


VISION
Leading a healthy, growing and 
profitable BC chicken industry.

PURPOSE
To regulate the pricing and production of BC chicken while 

meeting consumer expectations including animal care and on 
farm food safety; and working with industry partners to maintain 

sustainability as we grow the market.  

Goals

Fair 
we take a balanced 
approach in executing 
our responsibilities 

Implement 
programs that provide 

the opportunity for a fair 
return to the producers, and 

allow processors to be 
competitive in the 
domestic market

Implement 
programs to promote 
increased production 
and consumption of 

chicken in BC.

Implement 
programs that reslt in 
industry sustainability 

and diversity.

Achieve “Best in 
Class” Board 

governance and 
business operations.

Working within 
the Federal Provincial 

Agreement for chicken to 
optimize growth 

opportunities for the BC 
chicken industry.

With our industry partners, sta� and the public in mind, we are:

Dependable
we can be counted on 
to do what we say we 
will do

Accountable
we hold ourselves 
responsible for our 
decisions and actions 

Values
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REPORT OF THE CHAIR
There have been a number of decisions made by the BC 
Chicken Marketing Board and other significant events in 
2018 that are worth highlighting.

The quantity of quota held by growers has not been 
increased since 1997.  In order to bring production more 
in line with quota holdings I am pleased to report that 
qualifying holders of mainstream quota will be eligible 
for a 20% pro-rata increase in their base quota effective 
with shipments in period A-164 (July 5, 2020).

Two new trade agreements came into effect in 2018: the 
Comprehensive Progressive Trans-Pacific Partnership 
(CPTPP) and the Canada, United States, Mexico 
Agreement (CUSMA) replacing NAFTA.  The cumulative 
effect of these two agreements will increase market 
access for imported chicken products from the current 
7.5% of Canadian production to 10.7% over time.

During 2018 the Board worked closely with the BC 
Hatching Egg Commission and Serecon to update the 
price linkage between the two commodities.  Serecon 
has collected updated COP information and a new 
linkage formula is anticipated by A-156.

A number of appeals were launched arising from the 
Board’s decisions in 2018, all of which were withdrawn 
except for three.  K & M Farms appealed the Board’s 
decision to disallow annualization of production.  A 
decision of this appeal is still pending from BCFIRB.

The decision of the Board to implement a new interim 
pricing formula in July precipitated appeals from the 
Primary Poultry Processors Association of BC (PPPABC) 
and from the BC Chicken Growers Association (BCCGA).  
The interim pricing decision under appeal only extends 
to A-156 after which the Board will have to decide, 
with industry consultation, how to proceed with 
future pricing.  These appeals consumed considerable 
resources over eight days of hearings before BCFIRB in 
the fall.  At time of writing a decision on these appeals 
has not been rendered by BCFIRB.  

In 2018 we welcomed Mr. Jim Byrne, former Chair of 

the BC Milk Marketing Board, as the Chair of both the 
BCCMB SMAC and PPAC.  Mr. Derek Janzen was re-
elected by the growers for another three year term 
and Mr. Alistair Johnston was re-appointed by Order in 
Council to another three year term on the Board.  Mr. 
Ralph Payne declined re-appointment and Ms. Gay 
Hahn former President of Avalon Dairies received a 
three year appointment.  In late December Mr. Harvey 
Sasaki was appointed as the new Chair of the Board for 
two years.  Congratulations to Jim, Derek, Alistair, Gay 
and Harvey and mamy thanks to Ralph for his years of 
service to the industry. 

I have truly enjoyed the five plus year that I have been the 
Chair of the Board.  During that time chicken production 
in British Columbia has increased by 13.6% (29 million 
kilograms) and even though Board expenses have risen 
we have not raised the producer levy.  Some of the 
significant highlights of those five years include: signing 
of a new CFC Operating Agreement, bringing Alberta 
back into the system; an expanded New Entry Grower 
program; new catching regulations and load out report 
(making BC the leader in this initiative in Canada); 
growth of the specialty and organic sector; increase in 
quota by 20% in 2020 and a new pricing formula that 
recognizes actual production cost difference between 
BC and Ontario.

In closing, I thank my fellow Board members for their 
thoughtful and wise contribution to the Board’s 
decisions.  Thank you for the great support from the 
people who do all the work, the Board staff, in particular 
Bill Vanderspek and Christine Rickson.  The BC chicken 
industry is fortunate to have such dedicated and 
knowledgeable people working on their behalf.

Robin Smith
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During the calendar year of 2018, British Columbia’s 316 
chicken farmers produced 253.4 million kilograms (live 
weight) of chicken (an increase from last year of 8.7%).  
For the year 2018, BC produced 102.6% of its periodic 
allocation.  

MAINSTREAM PRICING 
REVIEW/DECISION
Since 2010 the BC chicken industry had been following 
a BCFIRB ordered formula based on the weighted 
average of the live prices of Alberta, Saskatchewan, 
Manitoba and Ontario plus a differential of $0.0435 per 
kilogram live weight.  During the period between 2010 
and 2017 this differential in the formula was at times 
$0.0485 and as high as $0.0571 per kilogram as a result 
of long term and interim agreements between the 
growers and processors.  

In 2017, after extensive consultation, the Board 
amended the pricing formula effective in A-144 to be:

BC Posted Price = Ontario Price + $0.035 
(catching costs) + 50% of the difference in feed 
and chick costs of growing a kilogram of live 
chicken between Ontario and BC.  

The PPPABC appealed the above noted formula, and 
a mediated session was held on September 8, 2017 
which resulted in the agreement to include “pricing 
guardrails” for periods A-146 through A-150.  The parties 
participating in the facilitated session were: Mr. Michel 
Maurier (facilitator, and past chair of BCCMB), BCCMB, 
BCCGA, PPPABC, BCBHEC and BCFIRB (observer).  
Following hours of discussion and negotiations, an 
agreement in principle was reached to amend the new 
pricing formula for five periods up to and including 
quota period A-150 as follows:
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BC’s minimum live price will be based on the 
Ontario posted live price at their 1.84 – 1.95 
weight category (inclusive of the Ontario $0.012 
modular loading recovery premium) + $0.035 
(catching) + 50% of the difference in the cost of 
growing chicken (feed and chick only) between 
BC and Ontario based on a six period rolling 
average.  The differential between the Ontario 
and BC live prices will be a maximum of $0.0984 
and a minimum of $0/0761 per kilogram based 
on the 1.84 – 1.95 Ontario weight category.  

Caveats to the agreement in principle were:

Changes to the cost of catching, once approved 
by the Board will be incorporated into the 
formula, and reflected in the guardrails

Changes or amendments to the Ontario live 
price not related to the actual COP will not 
be included in the formula except by mutual 
agreement of the PPAC or by Variation for 
Exceptional Circumstances (Schedule 2, Section 
13.8) of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB General 
orders. 

The agreement in principle was voted on and endorsed 
by the BCCMB.  The formula was used from A-146 to 
A-150.  The BCCMB committed to a full review on the 
current formula with any modifications to be in place for 
A-151 pricing (marketing’s commencing July 8, 2018).  
It should be noted that on May 16, 2018 (during quota 
period A-150) the PPPABC appealed the mediated 
agreement (for further details please see “Appeals” in a 
later section of this report) citing “incorrect application 
of the mediated agreement”.  

It should also be noted that the processors requested 
that the price for catching increase from 3.5 cents/
kg to 3.65 cents/kg effective in quota period A-150 
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(an increase of 0.15 cents).  The Board approved the 
increase for A-150.  

The review components of the review were to include:

zz Review of the previous year’s BC periodic price as 
compared to Ontario and the Prairie Provinces.

zz Compare results of new formula with the previous 
formula (weighted average of the AB,SK, MB and 
ON live prices plus $0.0485 and $0.0571 per kg)

zz Discuss any extraordinary events that occurred 
during the past year.

zz Was the Variation for Exceptional Circumstances 
Section of the BCCMB General Orders triggered?

zz Clarify the rationale and policy behind the 
percentage of feed and chick cost differential 
between BC and ON used in the formula, currently 
50% and adjust if warranted. 

zz Review the guardrails and the rationale behind 
them to determine if they are working.  

zz Discuss the Ontario weight and price category that 
is used in the BC Formula, currently at the 1.84 – 
1.95 kilograms ensuring that any contemplated 
change will maintain the principle of economic 
balance between the parties.  

zz Review revisions if any to the CFO COPF.

zz Initiate a process to determine what constitutes 
a reasonable return to growers and processor 
competitiveness in the Canadian marketplace.  

zz Analyze and discuss feed price differentials and 
trends (corn versus wheat, west versus central) 
historic and projected.  

zz Next review; timing, who will be involved.

zz Discuss a method for dispute resolution to be used 
in the event that agreement cannot be reached in 
the review process.  The default would be BCFIRB 
appeal process.  

The timeline for the review commenced with an initial 
meeting of the parties to the agreement on April 20, 
2018.  Written submissions from the parties was due 
May 26, 2018 with a June 8th initial decision of the Board 
to advise the parties if any adjustment to the formula 
would be required and the nature of the adjustment.  
The initial decision of the board proposed:  

Ontario weight category of 2.45 to 2.65 
kilograms exclusive of the $0.012 per kilogram 
CFO modular loading cost recovery.

Plus a fixed differential of $0.1024 per kilogram 
which represents 100% of the average for periods 
A-145 to a-150 in the difference in feed and chick 
costs per kilogram between BC and ON.  

Plus $0.0365 per kilogram which was the current 
price of catching.  Increases or decreases in 
the price of catching must be approved by the 
BCCMB in advance.  If approved, these increases 
or decreases would be reflected in the live price.  

The parties had until June 22, 2018 to respond to the 
Board’s findings.  Upon receipt, and a fulsome review 
of the written responses from all parties, the Board 
on June 29, 2018 circulated its decision and SAFETI 
analysis and set the price using the new formula for 
quota period A-151 (which commenced marketing’s on 
July 8, 2018).  This decision was very different from the 
above initial decision of the Board.  The final decision 
was to implement a new pricing formula for periods 
A-151 to a-156 inclusive based on:

Ontario price based on the weight category 
of 2.45 to 2.65 kilograms, not including the 
$0.012 per kilogram CFO modular loading 
cost recovery.

PLUS
75% of the difference in feed and chick 
costs per kilogram of live chicken between 
BC and Ontario based on a 6 period rolling 
average.  

PLUS
$0.0365 per kilogram which is the current 
catching cost.  Increases or decreases in 
the price of catching must be approved by 
the BCCMB in advance. If approved, these 
increases or decreases will be reflected in 
the live price.  

PLUS
Guardrails:  The differentials between 
Ontario and BC live prices will be set at a 

+

+

+
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maximum of $0.1249 and a minimum of 
$0.0970.  The guardrails are to be a “ceiling” 
and/or “floor”.  The guardrails will be 
adjusted to reflect any changes in catching 
costs. 

The interim decision will be reviewed upon the 
completion/implementation of the Ontario COPF2 
and/or the completion of the BC initiatives respecting 
Pricing Linkage and updates to the costs for BC chicken 
production which may occur prior to the completion of 
quota period A-156.  

The complete decision and SAFETI can be found at the 
following link ( http://bcchicken.ca/wp-content/
uploads/2019/04/2018-Pricing-Model-Mainstream-
Formula-decision-2018-FINAL.pdf) and the new 
interim pricing formula can be found at Schedule 19 of 
the BCCMB General Orders.  

This decision of the Board was appealed by both the 
PPPABC and the BCCGA.  Please see “Appeals” in a later 
section of this report.  The closing argument portion 
of the appeal will not be concluded until sometime in 
January 2019 at the request of the panel. 

QTAR/QATE REVIEW/
DECISION
The BC Farm Industry Review Board (BCFIRB) has now 
completed an objective evaluation of quota assessment 
tools including a general review and examination of its 
previous directions for all supply managed commodity 
boards.  

In summary, consistent with BC FIRB’s 2005 Specialty 
Review, the BCCMB is still required to:

(a) Bring in new entrants through its New Entrant 
Grower (NDG) Program on a regular basis.  

(b) Regularly review and update the NEG Program to 
ensure it remains strategic and effective.

(c) Continually support regional and specialty/niche 
development opportunities through the NEG 
program.  

BCFIRB has provided some flexibility to commodity 
Board’s administration of quota assessment tools 
include the removal of LIFO (last in first out) provisions, 
provided that the Boards:

1. Apply 10/10/0 assessments on first transfer of any 
growth quota.

2. Allow quota holders to refuse growth quota.

3. Do not grant growth quota to quota holders who 
have transferred quota in the last year. 

4. Do not allow growers to defer their receipt of 
growth quota beyond the time frame specified by 
the Board.  

QUOTA EXPANSION 
DECISION
On June 19, 2018 the Board announced to the chicken 
industry that qualifying holders of Mainstream quota 
would be eligible to be granted a 20% pro-rata increase 
to their base quotas effective with shipments in period 
A-164 (Marketing’s from July 5, 2020 to August 29, 2020).  

As such to meet the requirements of FIRB’s QTAR/QATE 
decision, period A-155 was the final period for quota 
transaction to take place without impacting a grower’s 
eligibility to receive the increase in quota.  Growers 
transferring quota to another grower after November 
9, 2018 would be ineligible for any portion of the A-164 
pro rata increase.  This would affect the transferor, 
not the transferee.  In accordance with the FIRB QTAR 
decision, there will be no exceptions; any quota transfer 
will render a grower who is the transferor ineligible for 
growth quota.  

Consistent with the QTAR decision, any grower has the 
right to decline any or all of the A-164 quota increase 
offered by advising the Board in writing.  

Growers with sufficient space for the increase at their 
registered density will be eligible for allotments of the 
additional growth quota beginning in period A-164.  
Growers with insufficient space will be given until July 5, 
2021 to provide the required space.  Failure to meet with 
deadline will result in forfeiture of any portion of the 
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growth quota that cannot be accommodated.  All new 
production space must be measured and approved by 
the BCCMB staff and added to the grower’s profile prior 
to any growth quota and corresponding allotments 
being issued by the Board.  

In conjunction with this decision, the Board amended 
the mediated agreement from 2015 (scheduled to 
run until the end of 2020) with the three specialty 
growers currently growing certified organic chicken 
using 268,921 kg of specialty quota.  The agreement, 
accelerated the mediated agreement by almost two 
and a half years and provided a clear picture of the 
amount of quota remaining in the specialty quota pool. 
This will allow the Board to provide a quota expansion 
for the Specialty sector early in 2019.  

LINKAGE UPDATE
The BCCMB and BCBHEC engaged in a scheduled update 
to the pricing linkage between the two commodities 
in 2018.  The timeline specified that the work is to 
be completed and implemented for quota period 
A-155, which begins on February 17, 2019.  Serecon 
Consulting has been contracted for the purpose of the 
update which includes the cost of production date to 
be collected on a number of farms.  It should be noted 
that the A-155 deadline has not been met, and work 
continues on this file.  

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION AND 
PROTECTION OF 
PRIVACY ACT (FOIPPA)
In 2018, the Board was receipt of two requests under 
Freedom of Information.  

Animal Justice Canada Legislative 
Fund of Toronto:

The following information was requested of all BC 
commodity Boards (Chicken, Egg, Turkey, Hatching Egg, 
Milk and Pork) on July 30, 2018.  

All Available:

zz Animal welfare inspections reports/animal care 
audit reports

zz Financial records (i.e. any records of government 
funding and what it was used for).

zz Photos/videos from inspections

zz Reports re number of total inspections completed, 
number of failed inspections, number of charges 
laid/corrective actions taken (i.e. farm compliance 
data)

zz Appeal, hearing and decision files

zz Complaint files re animal welfare and farm 
compliance

zz Bio-security audit reports

zz All correspondence re animal welfare inspections 
and bio-security audits

zz Meeting minutes re complaints, undercover 
footage, audits

zz Policy documents (i.e. policy re corrective actions 
and timelines post inspection)

zz Rules of practice/standards/protocols

zz Code of conduct

zz Contracts signed between Board and producers

With the assistance of legal counsel, BCCMB staff 
obtained clarification of the request to narrow the scope 
of information to data for animal welfare inspection 
reports/animal care audits and farm compliance data 
for the period of January 1, 2017 to August 1, 2108.  An 
estimate fee for services relating to the request was sent 
to the applicant.  To date there has been no response 
to the deposit required to proceed with processing the 
request.  

PPPABC

The PPPABC requested the following information 
relating to the 2018 Pricing Decision.  They requested:

zz All information cited publically by the BCCMB as the 
basis for its pricing Model (Mainstream) Formula 
Decision 2018 (the “Pricing Decision”).  

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 7

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR



zz All records relied upon by the Chicken Board in 
coming to the Pricing Decision, including but not 
limited to:

z� Any factual material;

z� Any statistical surveys;

z� Any economic forecasts; and

z� Any reports or documents prepared by the 
Chicken Board or by third parties on behalf of the 
Chicken Board or provided to the Chicken Board.  

zz All internal communications, documents, file notes, 
memoranda, and any other records pertaining to 
the pricing of live chicken in BC produced by the 
BCCMB, or any of its employees or board members, 
during the period of January 1, 2017 to June 27, 
2018.  

zz All communications, documents, file notes, 
memoranda, and any other records pertaining to 
the pricing of live chicken in BC sent between the 
BCCMB, or any of its employees or board members, 
and the following entities and persons, during the 
period of January 1, 2017 to June 27, 2018;

z� BCCGA

z� Ference and Co.

z� Serecon Consulting

z� CFC

z� BCFIRB

z� Any other members of chicken industry in BC or 
any other province; and

z� Any person who is an employee, board member, 
or agent of the above entities.

zz All records pertaining to any interactions between 
the BCCMB, or any of its employees or board 
members, and the BC Ministry of Agriculture, from 
the period of January 1, 2017 to June 27, 2018.  

A cost estimate was provided to the PPPAC and accepted 
by them on September 13, 2018.  The BCCMB requested 
an extension of time in order to ensure third party 
interests were appropriately taken into account.  Staff 
completed the task and sent the requested information 
to the PPPABC on November 15, 2018.  

AMENDMENTS TO 
GENERAL ORDERS
During the year 2018, several amendments were 
circulated to industry via email.  These amendments 
include:

zz  An amendment to Part 31 Disaster Flocks.  It now 
includes a section for growers to apply to have their 
6% tolerance expanded to 10% for a specific quota 
period under certain conditions.  The change will 
allow both growers and processors to recoup lost 
opportunity in specific situations.   The rationale 
for the change is that growers and the BCCGA have 
lobbied for a change to the disaster flock section 
that will allow for flexibility in managing excess 
mortality caused by disease.  A checklist to assist 
growers in ensuring their application is complete is 
available upon request from the Board Inspection 
staff.  

zz  Schedule 19 – Pricing Model was amended and 
circulated to industry on July 6, 2018.  It was 
amended to reflect the decision of the Board after 
the pricing decision and SAFETI of June 29, 2018.  

zz  Arising from the announcement of a quota 
expansion amendments were made to Part 34 and 
Part 35.  

z� Part 34 was amended reflect the 20% increase in 
quota expansion, increasing the maximum farm 
size by 20% (from 750,000 kilograms to 900,000 
kilograms) effective in quota period A-164.  

z�  Part 35 was amended to reflect the change 
by FIRB arising from the QTAR/QATE decision.  
10/10/10 has been changed to 10/10/0 for all 
quota issued by the Board since September 1, 
2005.  Last in first out (LIFO) has been repealed 
except for new entrants that did or will take 
advantage of the current matching quota 
program (commonly referred to as BOGO).  In 
this case LIFO remains in effect until the quota 
issued by the Board reaches its maturity under 
10/10/0.  
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zz Arising from a November 5, 2018 letter respecting 
QTAR/QATE from FIRB the Board was ordered to 
amend its General Orders to include the following:

z�  Part 24 – Quota allotment to Growers be 
amended to reflect

z� Quota holders have the option to refuse or 
accept permanent increases in quota.

z� Receipt of permanent increases in quota 
cannot be deferred.  Offer and acceptance of 
permanent increase in quota are a one-time 
opportunity.

z� Quota holders are not eligible to receive 
permanent increase in quota for 12 month 
following a transfer of any quota, except in 
the case of:

z� If a quota transfer does not result in an 
overall change in total quota holdings 
within a corporation or partnership, 
the corporation or partnership remains 
eligible for growth.  

zz  Arising from the adoption of the 2019 BCCMB 
Budget, the Board ordered the following change to 
the levy:

z� Schedule 4 – Levies be amended to reflect

z� Every processors shall be required to make 
a deduction of 2.0 cents per kilogram live 
weight on all classes of chicken received from 
the grower and produced for the domestic 
market effective on and after February 17, 
2019 (the start of A-155).

z� Every processors shall be required to make 
a deduction of 2.0 cents per kilogram live 
weight on all classes of chicken received 
from the grower and produced under the 
CFC Market Development Program effective 
on and after February 17, 2019 (the start of 
A-155).  This levy is to be paid 50% by the 
grower and 50% by the processor.  

APPEALS
K&M Annualization

K&M Farms appealed a decision of the Board, denying 
annualization for its mainstream production.  The 
appeal was heard in June 2018 and to date no decision 
has been rendered by FIRB.  

K&M Direction of Product & 
Continuation of Services

K&M Farms, a self-marketer of chicken, appealed the 
decision of the Board to deny his request to have its 
product directed to Rossdown Natural Foods and to 
direct the processor to provide the services of catching, 
processing cut up and packaging to its specifications 
at set prices.  The appeal was heard in June 2018 in 
conjunction with the above noted annualization appeal.  
Several BC Processors participated as intervenors. After 
the appeal hearing occurred, K&M provided FIRB notice 
of withdrawal of the appeal the day after its closing 
written submission was due to be filed with FIRB.  FIRB 
issued an order of dismissal of the appeal.  

PPPAC pricing decision A-146 – 150 
mediated agreement

As mentioned above in the Mainstream Pricing Review/
Decision section above, the PPPABC (Hallmark, Sunrise, 
Sofina and Farm Fed) appealed the BCCMB’s method of 
calculating the live price for periods A-146 through A-150 
inclusive.  They asserted that the mediate agreement 
reached on September 8, 2018 has been applied 
incorrectly and that the live price has been set 1.2 cents 
per kilogram too high for the periods in question.  The 
processors appealed the mediated agreement on 
May 16, 2018 in the last period of the agreement (A-
150).  The Board applied to have the appeal summarily 
dismissed as out of time, which was granted by FIRB on 
August 27, 2018.  The FIRB panel found that no special 
circumstances existed to the extend the time limit for 
filing an appeal.  
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PPABC pricing decision A-151 – 
A-156

The PPPABC appealed the BCCMB’s method of 
calculating the live price for periods A-151 through 
A-156 inclusive.  The PPPABC applied for a stay of the 
implementation of the decision to the extent necessary 
to allow the Processors to pay the difference in chicken 
prices between the 2018 formula and the 2017 pricing 
formula (excluding the $0.012 modular loading levy) 
into trust pending the FIRB’s final decision on this 
appeal.  This holdback was calculated at $0.024 per 
kilogram for period A-151.  

On July 13, 2018 FIRB ruled to dismiss the stay of 
implementation and holdback of the $0.024 per 
kilogram stating that he BCCMB’s pricing increase was 
not sufficient to warrant the extraordinary relief sought 
by the Processors.  

The relief sought by the PPPABC at appeal is for the 
live price of BC chicken be set at the 2.021-2.100 kg BC 
weight category based on the Ontario live price (based 
on a 2.15-2.45 weight category) and by adding a fixed 
differential of $0.065/kg for a period of 3 years. To date 
no decision has been made by BCFIRB.  

BCCGA pricing decision A-151 – 
A-156

The BC Chicken Growers Association appealed the 
BCCMB’s method of calculating the live price for periods 
A-151 through A-156 inclusive on the basis that it does 
not include the $0.012 per kilogram modular loading 
cost recovery as was the case during the period of time 
the mediated agreement was in place (A-145 through 
A-150) and only accounts for 75% of the difference in 
feed and chick costs between BC and Ontario.  The 
BCCGA request FIRB rule that the feed/chick cost 
differential in the formula be amended from 75% to 
100% or otherwise return to the original interim decision 
announced by the Board on June 11, 2018 (fixed 
differential).  This appeal was heard in conjunction with 
the BC processors appeal of the same pricing periods. 

BCCGA feasibility study

The BCCGA appealed the Board’s decision denying 

them funds to conduct a feasibility study with respect to 
chicken growers owning and operating a hatchery and 
processing plant in BC.  The Board does not anticipate 
directly or indirectly funding through BCCMB levies any 
studies involving possible commercial enterprises.  On 
November 8, 2018 the BCCGA withdrew their appeal at 
FIRB. 

Jaedel Enterprises

Jaedel Enterprises Ltd filed two appeals on September 
14, 2018 arising from the July 10, 2018 and August 13, 
2018 decisions of the Board respecting sanctions for 
non-compliance related to land and quota ownership.  
An order of dismissal was issued by FIRB on October 23, 
2018.  

Outlander Poultry Farms Ltd.

Outlander Poultry Farms Ltd. filed an appeal on 
December 4, 2018 against a November 5, 2018 decision 
of the Board respecting over allotments in excess 
of actual registered space for quota periods A-151 
and A-152.  On December 21, 2018 Outlander Poultry 
withdrew its appeal.  

NATIONAL AGREEMENTS 
CPTPP

On January 23, 2018 Canada and ten other countries 
concluded discussion on the Comprehensive 
Progressive Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) 
agreement.  Unfortunately, the concessions offered 
in the original October 2015 TPP agreement were 
not adjusted to reflect the withdrawal of the USA. It is 
expected that other CPTPP members such as Chile 
will be in a position to fill the TRQ.  The new CPTPP 
access represents an additional 2.1% of the Canadian 
chicken production that will be imported, in addition to 
Canada’s existing commitments of 7.5%.  

Global Affairs Canada announced the allocation 
process for the 2019 CPTPP TRP.  For 2019, the access 
granted under the CPTPP amounts to 7,833,000 kg and 
will be allocated as follows:
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zz 85% to processors and further processors, based on 
market share

zz 10% to distributors, based on equal share

zz 5% to food service, based on equal share.  

CUSMA

The United States, Mexico and Canada have signed 
an agreement to replace NAFTA.  The CUSMA makes 
fundamental change on how imports are administered 
while ensuring stability for farmers.  Through the CUSMA, 
the US and secured 62.9 million kilograms of country-
specific access to the Canadian chicken market, which 
is a significant gain for the US chicken industry.  As this 
volume will be available only to products originating in 
the US; US products will benefit from guaranteed access 
to the Canadian market without having to compete with 
Brazil and Thailand, Canada’s second and third largest 
source of imports. 

Once fully implemented, Canada will provide a further 
12.7 million kilograms of CUSMA market access in 
addition to the current level of 90.1 million kgs.  The 
CUSMA will increase our current access of 7.5% of 
Canadian production to 8.5%.  

Both the CPTPP and CUSMA increase Canada’s new 
total market access from 7.5% to 10.7%, or 129.6 million 
kilograms.  

SMAC/PPAC Report

Mr. Jim Byrne accepted the position of both PPAC and 
SMAC Chair effective January 15, 2018.  Jim has an 
extensive background in BC agriculture and supply 
management.  Well known to many in our industry, he 
recently completed a six year term as Chair of the BC 
Milk Board.  

The Board would like to take this opportunity to thank 
Ms. Karen Landon for her 3 years of service as the Chair 
of both the PPAC and SMAC. 

Transition to Digital 
Communications 

As part of the Board’s continuing initiative to eliminate 
paper and move fully towards digital communications 

with growers and industry partners, the BCCMB office 
will no longer be sending any communications via 
Canada Post to growers.  All grower are required to 
provide the BCCMB office with an email address in order 
to receive correspondence from the Board.  

Also on January 1, 2019 the Board will cease to accept/
send faxes. Growers are to scan their BC111 and DM forms 
and email them to the Board office.  As an alternative to 
scanning, growers can use their smartphones to take a 
photo of a document and send them to the office via 
email.  Correspondence with Field Services staff should 
be directed to inspection@bcchicken.ca  while general 
correspondence to the BCCMB Office should be sent to 
info@bchicken.ca   

Board/Staff Makeup

During 2018 there were changes to the makeup of the 
Board.  Mr. Derek Janzen was re-elected to the Board 
on March 2, 2018 for a three-year term.  The appointed 
3-year term of Mr. Alistair Johnston and 2-year term of 
Mr. Ralph Payne expired on September 30, 2018.  Mr. 
Payne chose not to stand for a further appointment.  
We will miss Ralph’s many contributions to the Board 
and the chicken industry, but wish him well in his next 
adventure.  

On September 28, 2018 by Order-in-Council #485 Mr. 
Alistair Johnston was reappointed to the Board, for a 
term ending September 30, 2021.  Also appointed by the 
same Order-in-Council, Ms. Gay Mary Jean Hahn was 
appointed to the Board for a 3-year term also ending 
September 30, 2021.  Gay comes to us with an extensive 
resume in the dairy processing sector.  

On December 21, 2018 by Order-in–Council #796, 
(a) the appointment of Mr. Robin Smith as a member 

and chair of the BCCMB, made by order #641/2016 
was rescinded, and 

(b) Mr. Harvey Sasaki was appointed as a member 
and chair of the BCCMB for a term of 2 years.  

It should also be noted that the Chair Mr. Robin Smith’s 
three-year appointment was to expire on September 
30, 2019.  We wish to thank Robin for his service to 
the chicken industry and wish him well in his future 
consulting work.  
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Back Row - Left to right: Bill Vanderspek, Derek Janzen, Alistair Johnston, Ray Nickel
Front Row - Left to right: Gay Hahn, Robin Smith

Several changes were made to staff in 2018.  
Administrative Assistant Erica Driesen took maternity 
leave in March 2018.  The temporary employee filling 
in for Erica departed the position in November of 2018.  
For the balance of 2018, the BCCMB office managed 
without an administrative assistant, as the balance 
of staff took up those duties, with a little bit of remote 

assistance from Erica.  In the Accounting Department, 
Yvonne Wallace retired from the position she has held 
since October 2, 2006 in November after completing 
12 years of service.  We wish Yvonne the best in her 
well-deserved retirement.  On November 26, 2018 the 
BCCMB welcomed Guzel Gafurova in the position of 
Accountant.  
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Back Row - Left to right: Kira Harrison, Arlene Oslie, Bill Vanderspek, Jason Maarhuis, Kathy Erickson, Kelli Garbutt
Front Row - Left to right: Karlie Erickson, Cheryl Davie, Christine Rickson, Yvonne Wallace
Staff that are missing: Erica Driesen and Shawn Mallon

Many thanks to BCCMB staff members Christine Rickson, 
Kathy Erickson, Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Kira 
Harrision, Jason Maarhuis, Cheryl Davie, Shawn Mallon, 
Erica Driesen, Karlie Erickson and Guzel Gafurova for 
their continued hard work and dedication.  

Bill Vanderspek
Executive Director

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 13

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR



Hatching
Egg Producers

Hatcheries

Regulated
Sectors

• BCFIRB
• COMB   
• COGA

BCCMB
• PPAC
• SMAC

Consumers 
and Public

• CFC
• FPCC
• SM4/5

Chicken
Processors

Chicken
Growers

PPAC REPORT
The Pricing and Production Advisory Committee met 
on one occasion in 2018 and addressed the issue of 
mainstream pricing and how a formula application 
can be used in setting the BC price. There is currently 
no consensus on the application of the current formula 
and therefore no action was taken by the PPAC in 
recommending changes to the Board. 

There is a symbiotic relationship between broiler 
hatching egg producers and chicken growers and 
as such any input costs at the primary level affect all 
parties downstream. To address this cost relationship 
the two groups of producers have created a linkage 
formula to establish pricing protocols that are also 
linked to the Ontario price of chicken. As there is friction 
in the pricing structure relative to the Ontario price 
protocol the PPAC has asked the Board to bring the 
matter up with the CFC. 

In circumstances that render birds not suitable for 
processing, a grower and or processor may request the 
Board designate a ‘disaster flock’ to aid in determining 
the financial obligation of the processor to the grower. 
The PPAC has made recommendations to the Board to 
make changes to its’ General Orders Part 31 Disaster 
Flocks to bring clarity and responsibility before 
compensation is considered. 

On behalf of the members of the PPAC we acknowledge 
the support of the Committee members and thank the 
board and staff for their support and input. 

Respectfully submitted

Jim Byrne 
Chair
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A-149/150 A-151/152 A-153/154
Loon Kong $2.60/kg $2.63 $2.73

Bradner Special Dual $2.66/kg $2.68 $2.72

Bradner Long Cycle $2.77/kg $2.80 $2.84

Shondon or Hong Kong Golden $2.65/kg $2.68 $2.73

Silkie $4.00/kg $4.04/kg $4.14/kg

SMAC REPORT
The Specialty Market Advisory Committee met on 
four occasions in 2018 to consider pricing advisories 
by Serecon and other related business. As a result the 
SMAC recommended the price for Specialty Chicken 
be increased primarily due to feed cost increases. In all 
cases the recommendations were to adopt the Serecon 
price calculations 100%.

Prices for Specialty production (base category) 
increased as shown in table below:

The catching requirements for Specialty production are 
unique in many ways and do not follow the conventional 
catching protocol for mainstream chicken. The SMAC is 
continuing a review of the catching protocol and when 
completed will present their recommendations for 
further consideration. 

The need for additional quota is of utmost importance 
for healthy growth of the industry. To that end the 

SMAC has recommended additional quota allocation 
to bring New Entrants up to 20,000 kg with the support 
of the processing sector. Furthermore, the SMAC is 
recommending the addition of three New Entrants 
subject to support of the processing sector. 

On behalf of the members of the SMAC we acknowledge 
the support of the Committee members and thank the 
Board and staff for their support and input. 

Respectfully submitted 

Jim Byrne 
Chair
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RESEARCH REPORT
Canadian Poultry Consultants Ltd – Dr. Ritchie
Please find below a summary of the research and 
continuing education projects conducted in 2018.  

Raising broilers without the use of 
antibiotics

zz As more companies move towards raising broilers 
without the use of antibiotics there is a significant 
requirement for more research on how to execute 
these programs successfully. We are developing 
new management techniques and standards 
to successfully raise flocks without the use of 
antibiotics. This research is focused on enhancing 
gut health (antibiotic alternatives, gastrointestinal 
physiology, and management practices) to 
manage diseases such as coccidiosis and necrotic 
enteritis.

zz There are numerous factors involved, including 
the importance of early feed intake and the 
establishment of a steady state eating pattern.  

zz Improved excystation and sporulation of live cocci 
forms for the optimum development of immunity 

zz Use of selected strains of Bacillus sp. to improve 
environmental and intestinal health 

zz Use of unique blends of plant extracts and enzymes 
to treat and control necrotic enteritis

zz Utilization of the Platinum Brooding® APP to 
automatically harvest and analyze critical 
management metrics.  

zz Interactions with other pathogenic organisms may 
trigger intestinal disease and research focused 
on disease prevention strategies that allow for 
very early establishment of normal gut flora was 
initiated. 

z� The development of a coccidiosis-specific set 
of management criteria designed to improve 
the ability for chickens to become immune 
to coccidiosis.  Now an integral part of the 
educational component taught in the Platinum 
Brooding® Program.

z� Litter treatments that involve the inclusion of 
facultative anaerobic spore forming enzyme-
producing bacteria, acidification and coccidiosis 
vaccine treatments of the zone of comfort of the 
seeding area.

z� Protocols for using misters to initiate sporulation 
where dry litter (often top floors) impedes 
sporulation of coccidial oocysts.

z� Understanding an applying interventions to 
reduce the impact of Salmonella enteritidis and 
reduce secondary necrotic enteritis.

zz Salmonella enteritidis

z� Salmonella, in particular Salmonella enteritidis, 
is an important disease-causing agent affecting 
both poultry and human health. There is 
literature which reports interactions with 
Salmonella enteritidis, coccidiosis and necrotic 
enteritis.  Significant effort has, and continues to 
be made to control the risk posed by Salmonella 
at all levels of the broiler and broiler meat 
processing industries. Research was initiated to 
help prevent the spread of Salmonella through 
the use of litter amendments, researching and 
developing methods to best monitor for this 
pathogen as well as developing intervention 
strategies to reduce the levels of Salmonella that 
enter the plant.

zz  Utilization of litter treatment protocols designed 
to improve intestinal health through the addition 
of facultative anaerobic spore-forming enzyme-
producing probiotics in the zone of comfort.

zz Utilization of drinking water acidification protocols.

zz Utilization of drinking water probiotic protocols.

 

Coccidiosis Prevention Planner©

zz  The prevention of coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis 
in all commercial broiler farming systems requires 
short, medium and long term planning strategies.  
These intestinal diseases are prevented through an 
understanding of the various interactions between 
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the chicken, the environment and the causative 
agents.  Disciplined coccidiosis prevention 
strategies are very effective in minimizing the 
significant negative impact associated with 
coccidiosis and necrotic enteritis, not only on 
performance, but also on welfare, health, antibiotic 
resistance and food safety.  Disciplined coccidiosis 
and necrotic enteritis strategies are also extremely 
important for the long term sustainability of the 
various additives currently permitted for use in the 
feed. We are researching and developing a new 
computer-based Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© 
to provide easy access to a library of information 
relative to available coccidiostats, antibacterial, 
and other custom ingredients. The CPP output also 
produces an annual “cocci wheel” allowing the user 
to efficiently archive and share planning and results 
in an easy to interpret multidimensional diagram. 
In the future, this new tool will help with the 
successful, long-term management of coccidiosis. 
The CPP will be evaluated as a tool to guide and 
record disease prevention decisions. 

z�  The Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© is now 
being utilized by Professors for teaching-
purposes.  The feedback gleaned will be used 
to fine-tune the software to better fit local 
conditions

z�  The Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© is currently 
being used to record and plan feeding programs 
in British Columbia and Alberta.

z�  Due to the increased multi-provincial 
and multinational use of the Coccidiosis 
Prevention Planner©, the medication table 
in the Coccidiosis Prevention Planner© has 
recently received great interest from multiple 
stakeholders.  All medications in this table 
are now being regularly maintained by third 
parties to ensure accuracy in the Canadian and 
USA versions of the software.  This stakeholder 
partnership has further increased the utility 
of the Coccidiosis Prevention Planner and we 
expect it to grow throughout the years.

ELT and litter enhancement 
procedures

zz New strategies for litter management are being 
developed and evaluated for their effect on  
environmental pathogen levels, overall flock health 
and performance, Salmonella enteritidis, and 
necrotic enteritis control. This research involves the 
acidification of litter and the addition of various 
facultative anaerobic spore forming, enzyme 
producing bacteria (Enhanced Litter Treatment). 

Environmental Impact and 
Sustainability 

Producing safe, wholesome and reasonably priced 
poultry meat represents the guiding principles at S. 
J. Ritchie Research Farms Ltd. and Little Wing Poultry.  
In 2018 the facilities were equipped with solar energy 
recapture systems and rain water recapture systems.  
In 2019 the objectives are to gather critical data for 
analysis and further decisions relative to the objectives 
surrounding net zero broiler meat production.  While 
there is extensive focus on the kilowatts of energy (sun 
and water) that are captured on the barn rood, it is also 
important to focus on bird health and optimum feed 
utilization efficiency.  In 2019 a long-term coccidiosis 
prevention plan will be initiated using software 
designed in BC and the utilization of a more natural diet 
to improve efficiency of feed utilization.  The feeding of 
an all-vegetable diet is considered a constraint and by 
adjusting this constraint benefits associated with bird 
health and performance can be realized.  

Focus Points:  

zz  Solar Power Re-capture 

zz  Rain Water Re-capture 

zz  Feed conversion and optimal health 
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EDUCATION, OUTREACH 
AND CONTINUING 
EDUCATION 
OPPORTUNITIES IN BC 
WHERE INNOVATIONS 
AND SOLUTIONS ARE 
SHARED
UBC animal welfare sessions

zz Every year, UBCs animal welfare class is invited to 
the research farm to discuss animal welfare and 
broiler production.

Platinum Brooding® classes

zz www.platinumbrooding.com  Over fifty classes 
have been conducted in BC since its inception in 
415964 B.C.  There have been a number of classes 
at the University of Arkansas, the University of 
Georgia, throughout North America, Asia and 
Australia.

Platinum Brooding® app and 
dashboard

zz  Significant resources have been spent developing 
the Platinum Brooding® App and Dashboard that 
collects, analyses and reports real-time data to 
improve performance and husbandry.  This uses 
the Platinum Brooding® Checklist© that was 
developed and taught at 415964 B.C. Inc.

BCPS (BC Poultry Symposium)

zz This event is held in May each year, providing an 
opportunity to share advances in research and 
development with all stakeholders.

zz Venue for the sharing of research and development 
projects from SJRRF and LW.  

Western Meeting of Poultry 
Clinicians and Pathologists 
(Westvet)

zz This event is held in May each year, providing an 
opportunity for poultry clinicians and scientists to 
share case studies, discoveries, innovations and 
solutions.

University of the Fraser Valley 

zz  415964 B.C. used as an outreach and teaching 
facility for instructors and student enrolled at the 
university.
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FIELD SERVICES REPORT
In 2018 the BCCMB auditing team of Kathy, Jason, Kira 
and Karlie looked after the national On Farm Food Safety 
Program (OFFSP), national Animal Care Program (ACP) 
and BC Biosecurity audits. There are 341 registered farm 
locations to audit in BC which includes the interior and 
Vancouver Island. All the farm locations had completed 
or were scheduled for their audits by the end of 2018. 

The 4 most common corrective actions at the farm for 
On Farm Food Safety Program, Animal Care Program 
and the BC Biosecurity program were:

1. 73 corrective actions for annual water test

2. 70 corrective actions Density calculations/ high 
density monitoring requirements

3. 65 corrective actions Barn and Surrounding area 
maintenance /rodent control 

4. 28 corrective actions for Medications in feed/cross 
contamination  

The corrective actions were completed in a timely 
fashion once they were issued. The number of farms 
with corrective actions for water tests, SOPS has 
decreased since 2017 however the density and rodent 
control and barn surroundings maintenance increased 
in 2018. The rise in the rodent control/barn maintenance 
is disconcerting and this needs to be worked on in 2019. 
Density requirements need to be recorded for all farms 
with extra documentation required for High density 
with more farms running at high density these farms 
must be diligent in documentation.

BCCMB issued 5 warning letters for overdue corrective 
actions (CARS) and 3 penalty letters. All farms that 
received these letters completed their corrective 
actions. There were 7 complaints made to the BCCMB 
in regards to poultry producers in 2018. Some were 
unfounded and were normal farm practices, others 
had trigger audits completed on them with CARS being 
issued and completed. One farm received a penalty for 
noncompliance under Animal Care program. As a result 
of BCCMB staff working with the producer and the 
complainants there were no follow up occurrences on 
these incidences.

CFC Programs

CFC’s commitment to the OFFSAP and ACP program 
instituted a third party audit of all provinces inspection/
auditing staff starting in 2016. These audits were 
performed once again in 2018 by NSF International; 
this involved completing 2 shadow audits on each BC 
auditor and doing a full audit on the management 
system at the BCCMB office for the OFFSP and ACP 
programs. The reports received from NSF were very 
positive on the auditor’s skills and adherence to the 
OFFSAP and ACP programs. The Board was issued 
two corrective actions for the office report which were 
completed immediately and signed off on by NSF. 
These reports were sent to Chicken Farmers of Canada 
and Executive Director of BCCMB. 

In 2018 highly recommended parts of the Animal Care 
Program were added to the annual audit. On   January 
1, 2019 these highly recommended items are now 
mandatory in the new Animal Care Program. Auditors 
from BCCMB attended Growers Association meetings in 
the Interior, Lower Mainland and the Island to highlight 
the changes to Animal Care Program.  The new Animal 
Care Program books and updated forms have been 
distributed to all BC Chicken farmers. The SOPS and 
Blue sheets have been updated and reflect the changes 
that will be required in 2019.  All documents can be 
found on the website.  

BC Biosecurity Program 

Starting in the fall of 2018, the BC Poultry Biosecurity 
Program Committee which has representatives from 
the four poultry boards, have been reviewing and 
updating the Biosecurity Manual. Jason Maarhuis has 
been the lead for the four feather boards ensuring that 
the deadlines are met. Funding has been received from 
the Canadian Agricultural Partnership Program that has 
allowed the committee to revise the current manual.  
New manuals will be provided to producers in the 
spring of 2019.   
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Salmonella Enteriditis (SE)

During 2018, the Salmonella Enteridits prevalence 
study continued.  A report was prepared and sent to 
the Board of the prevalence of SE on farms in 2018.  If 
the farms results were positive for SE the farmer was 
notified. When a positive test is received, a thorough 
cleaning and disinfecting is mandatory for the farm 
and producers should ensure that they document it in 
their OFFSP & ACP Flock-Specific Records (blue sheets).  
Testing for SE at the farm level will continue in 2019 and 
will be taken during the annual audits on farms with age 
appropriate birds.

AMU

Kathy Erickson and Jason Maarhuis are involved in the 
new AMU strategy committee that Dr. Bill Cox chairs. 
This committee was formed to assist producers and 
help disseminate strategies in regards to the removal of 
category II medications that will be occurring in 2019. 
The initial AMU magazine was sent out with follow 
up electronic editions throughout 2018 to prepare 
producers for the upcoming changes. In 2019 this 
committee will be shifted to be part of the Chicken 
Value Chain Committee that Ray Nickel will be chairing.

BioCon Training CFIA

Kira Harrison and Karlie Erickson are involved with CFIA 
in Bio Containment training. They have attended several 
training sessions with CFIA as BCCMB representatives. 
The training is a joint venture with the 4 poultry boards 

in BC and CFIA as the lead. It is an excellent way to build 
for team building to occur throughout the sectors. Kira 
Harrision is the main contact with CFIA for the 4 Feather 
boards. Jason Maarhuis is part of the emergency 
response team working with CFIA and attends meetings 
in regards to AI. 

Live Haul Reporting

The BCCMB now licenses all live haulers for the broiler 
sector. When applying for a license they must have 
Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) for the company 
as well as training records for all employees. Training 
records must be onsite during live haul.  Auditors 
review the live haul reports and make phone calls if 
any concerns arise from the reports or if any follow up 
is required. Mandatory training for all catchers is now 
documented and can be viewed by BCCMB staff when 
they attend live haul at the farms. 

Total Flock Mortality and First Week 
Mortality for 2018

This includes all bird types (Specialty, Organic, 
Mainstream and Raised Without Antibiotics). These 
graphs represent mortality levels over an entire year. 
Please note that we have used the difference between 
the number of birds placed and the payable birds 
shipped for the “Total Flock Mortality Average” graph. 
Condemns that are not deducted from the growers 
and DOA’s will be included. The numbers from the “First 
Week Mortality Average” graph come from the BC111 
Form that each grower sends in after placement.
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RWA Total Flock Mortality & RWA 
First Week Mortality for 2018

This includes only birds raised without antibiotics. 
These graphs represent mortality levels over an entire 
year. Please note that we have used the difference 

between the number of birds placed and the payable 
birds shipped for the “Total Flock Mortality Average 
(RWA)” graph. Condemns that are not deducted from 
the growers and DOA’s will be included. The numbers 
from the “First Week Mortality Average (RWA)” graph 
comes from the BC111 Form that each grower sends in 
after each placement.
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good and some tough times but in the end we were all 
working for the same goal to keep our industry viable.  
Many friends have been made throughout the years and 
I have enjoyed working with you. I would like to Thank 
Bill Vanderspek, and all the staff at the board office for 
being a great team to work with all these years you will 
be missed. You never know when I may pop in for a visit.

I will be spending time with my husband Dennis and 
my family and doing all the things I put off while I was 
working.  Thanks again.

Kathy Erickson
Manager of Field Services

Changes

Auditors are increasingly moving towards paperless 
audits with the final software builds almost complete 
it will have us switching to tablets for the audits at the 
farm. Testing will begin in February-March of 2019.  
Producers are encouraged to send corrective actions 
by email or text when possible as we will not have a 
fax machine in 2019. This ensures better traceability for 
when items have been sent to the board. 

In 2019 I will be retiring from the position I have held 
with the BCCMB since 2001.

It has been a pleasure to work in the Poultry industry 
in British Columbia, especially with the BCCMB Staff 
and Broiler Farmers. All the changes and improvements 
that have occurred throughout the years have been 
interesting to say the least. We worked through some 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
SOCIAL MEDIA & WEBSITE 
In 2018 we delivered shorter 20-35 second videos from our 
Chicken SquadTM Investigates series regularly on our social 
media channels, which was very well received.  Our BC 
Chicken SquadTM social media channels continue to grow 
and be a reliable source of information for consumers 
and other stakeholders where we share chicken recipes, 
contests, cooking tips, health information, informative 
videos and posts celebrating our local chicken farming.  
In 2018, our Facebook engagements reached 25,109, a 
75% increase from 2017.  On Twitter, our total impressions 
reached 134,130.    Pinterest account views doubled in 
2018, averaging 5,879 views/month.  In 2018, we began 
actively posting on our Instagram account totaling 3,100 
engagements in 2018.  In 2018 our website received 
15,709 traffic sessions.  The most popular page on our 
website is the “How to Get into Chicken Farming” page 
with 5,444 views and the second most used page is the 
Poultry in MotionTM page with 3,857 views.  

STRATEGIC 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Sysco Victoria

BCCMB continues to work closely with local food service 
distributor Sysco Victoria to help educate local chefs 
and food service industry professionals about chicken 
production.  In, we took a group of 40 chefs on a tour of a 
local chicken farm.  We thank the Bev and Brian Whitta of 
Nanoose for hosting. 
In October, we participated in Sysco Victoria’s October 
Food Fest, where we gave a presentation about chicken 
farming to chefs and food service industry purchasers. 

7-11 

7-11, a worldwide convenience store, with over 600 
locations in Canada selling over 1.2 million kg of chicken 
per year and is growing.  With over 75 fresh fried chicken 
stores and 180 hot food stores that serve Canadian 
chicken, Chicken Farmers of Canada and the BC Chicken 

Marketing Board had an opportunity to use the existing 
Chicken Squad brand to continue to build public trust 
with strategic partners.   In 2018, we produced a new 
Chicken SquadTM Investigates video focused on the 
Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand.  The video was used 
in Cineplex theatres, social media.  7-11 also used the 
video for their marketing purposes.  Preliminary results 
show that consumers are responding positively.    BCCMB 
and 7-11 will be actively promoting different versions of 
the video in 2019.  
 

TAKE A BITE OF BC 
The BC Chicken Marketing Board continues to support BC 
Agriculture in the Classroom’s Take a Bite of BC program.  
In 2018 BC Chicken Marketing Board supplied 1,100 fresh 
whole chicken to 55 secondary schools where culinary 
arts students practiced deboning, cutting and preparing 
chicken dishes to serve to a total of 13,000 students and 
teachers.  

“The chickens were amazing.  We cut the chickens 
into 8 pieces.  The knife skills involved in that 
procedure are challenging, but the two students 
assigned to that task did a very good job.  We 
did southern fried chicken so next we marinated 
it overnight in a spicy buttermilk mixture.  The 
next day we dredged the chicken in a flour 
herb mixture then deep fried them.  The results 
were very good.”   Chef Eric MacNeil, Dover Bay 
Secondary, Nanaimo

SPECIALTY CHICKEN 
MARKETING CAMPAIGN 
In 2018, we continued with our Specialty Asian Chicken 
Promotion to develop and promote marketing materials 
to increase consumption of BC grown specialty Asian 
chicken.  We had two campaigns, one focused on the 
BC market and the other focused on western United 
States cities.  The goal for both these Chinese language 
campaigns was to raise awareness of BC produced Asian 
specialty chicken.  Using television, social media, print 
newspaper, in store print re and digital.  We estimate the 

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 23

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES



total reach of both campaigns as over 8 million.  

SUPPLY MANAGEMENT BC 
In 2018 we collaborated with the other supply managed 
industries in BC to communicate the benefits of 
supply management through the reporting of the total 
economic impact and also through storytelling.    

DIFFERENTIAL 
GROWTH ALLOCATION 
AGREEMENT 
In November 20, 2014 Chicken Farmers of Canada 
announced the signing of a new allocation agreement 
that would allocate 55% of future growth based on 
provincial comparative advantage factors, such as 
population growth, income-based GDP, consumer price 

index, farm input price index and quota utilization.  For 
BC, the amount of growth that is allocated based on 
comparative advantage factors is less than would have 
been allocated under the former pro-rata agreement.  
At the end of period A154, ending February 16, 2019, 
the total difference between pro-rata growth and actual 
growth (in kilograms) of allocation is 16,098,408 KG (evis).  

OTHER STAFF ACTIVITIES
August 2018 – BCCMB Staff hosted the annual gathering 
of market analysts in Vancouver, BC, in conjunction with 
the International Association of Agricultural Economists 
conference.  With staff representing Chicken Farmers 
of Canada, Eleveurs de Volailles-Quebec, and Alberta 
Chicken Producers.  In addition to a market information 
presentation from Farm Credit Canada, we discussed 
the strength and limitations of metrics used to predict 
consumer demand, and options for interactive data 
visualization software.  
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Period Start Date End Date  Pro Rata KG  (evis)  Actual  KG (evis) Difference in Growth KG   
A127 8-Nov-14 27-Dec-14  22,191,334  22,023,559  167,775 

A128 28-Dec-14 21-Feb-15  22,414,634  22,238,884  175,750 

A129 22-Feb-15 18-Apr-15  23,446,011  23,260,229  185,782 

A130 19-Apr-15 13-Jun-15  23,848,395  23,640,237  208,158 

A131 14-Jun-15 8-Aug-15  23,430,485  23,244,475  186,010 

A132 9-Aug-15 3-Oct-15  22,821,648  22,635,828  185,820 

A133 4-Oct-15 28-Nov-15  23,681,702  23,356,951  324,751 

A134 29-Nov-15 23-Jan-16  23,085,959  23,006,831  79,128 

A135 24-Jan-16 19-Mar-16  24,015,610  23,803,366  212,244 

A136 20-Mar-16 14-May-16  24,639,378  24,399,703  239,675 

A137 15-May-16 9-Jul-16  24,801,531  24,400,889  400,642 

A138 10-Jul-16 3-Sep-16  24,510,177  23,874,018  636,159 

A139 4-Sep-16 29-Oct-16  23,985,994  23,796,768  189,226 

A140 30-Oct-16 24-Dec-16  24,103,214  23,899,948  203,266 

A141 25-Dec-16 18-Feb-17  24,224,916  23,061,922  1,162,994 

A142 19-Feb-17 15-Apr-17  25,246,736  24,947,572  299,164 

A143 16-Apr-17 10-Jun-17  26,005,528  25,405,445  600,083 

A144 11-Jun-17 5-Aug-17  25,875,461  25,612,455  263,006 

A145 6-Aug-17 30-Sep-17  26,021,381  25,453,862  567,519 

A146 1-Oct-17 25-Nov-17  26,000,118  25,051,239  948,879 

A147 26-Nov-17 20-Jan-18  25,523,188  24,545,253  977,935 

A148 21-Jan-18 17-Mar-18  25,837,575  25,262,112  575,463 

A149 18-Mar-18 12-May-18  26,544,442  26,200,157  344,285 

A150 13-May-18 7-Jul-18  26,876,308  26,102,991  773,317 

A151 8-Jul-18 1-Sep-18  27,704,022  27,222,193  481,829 

A152 2-Sep-18 27-Oct-18  26,826,777  26,144,148  682,629 

A153 28-Oct-18 22-Dec-18  27,183,656  26,328,448  855,208 

A154 23-Dec-18 16-Feb-19  25,824,578  24,240,038  1,584,540 

Total  16,098,408 

Data Source: Chicken Farmers of Canada

August 2018 – BCCMB Staff helped to man the Poultry 
in MotionTM trailer at the PNE, answering questions from 
the public and telling them how chicken is raised in 
Canada. 

August 2018 – BCCMB Staff travelled to Ottawa as 
part of CFC’s annual consumer relations seminar with 
representatives of all other provincial boards.  CFC 

provided us with a comprehensive update of their 
marketing, communications and public relations 
initiatives.  We discussed possible ways we can 
collaborate more in 2019.  
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CHICKEN FARMERS
OF CANADA REPORT 
TO THE PROVINCES

26 M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

CFC REPORT TO THE PROVINCES



AN UPDATE ON TRADE
Implementation of the 
Comprehensive and Progressive 
Agreement for Trans-Pacific 
Partnership

On October 30, Australia officially became the sixth 
Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-
Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) member country to deposit 
its ratification of the agreement; Canada formally 
deposited its official ratification on October 29th. As this 
met the six-country ratification threshold required by 
the agreement, these actions set in motion the 60-day 
count down to its implementation, meaning that the 
CPTPP entered into force on December 30, 2018. 

Consequently, there will be a 2018 CPTPP Tariff Rate 
Quota (TRQ) of 326,417 kg of access made available 
on December 30 and 31 only. This amount represents 
the equivalent of one month of the overall Year 1 
commitment of 3.9 million kilograms (Mkg). Year 2 of 
the agreement’s implementation will commence two 
days later, on January 1, 2019, when an additional 7.8 
Mkg of duty-free imports will be permitted to enter the 
Canadian market from fellow CPTPP countries in 2019. 

From among the existing CPTPP members, Chile is 
currently the only country that can fill this new import 
access. Although Chile has not yet completed its 
ratification of the agreement, it is expected to conclude 
its process by the end of November. As there is a 60-day 
lag between ratification and entry into force, Chile could 
be in a position to take full advantage of its unfettered 
access to Canada’s entire 2019 CPTPP chicken TRQ by 
the end of February 2019. Chile already exports chicken 

products to Canada, albeit in limited volumes so far, 
but it has global exports exceeding 100 Mkg annually, 
so it is well situated to re-direct some of these exports 
to supply 100% of this newly created duty-free access. 

The Canada-United States-Mexico 
Agreement 

The Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA) 
was signed on November 30 prior to the change in 
Mexico’s President on December 1. At that time, the 
national ratification processes commenced. Ratification 
of the agreement is expected to move swiftly through 
Canada and Mexico’s domestic processes; however, 
the timeline for ratification and implementation in the 
U.S. remains uncertain due to the recent Democratic 
take over the U.S. House of Representatives, and the 
resulting potential political stalemate.

In the United States, the signing of CUSMA will signal to 
the International Trade Commission that it has 105 days 
to complete its report outlining its economic impact. 
Once this report is tabled, the U.S. Congress will have 
90 session days – i.e. excluding recesses – to consider 
and then vote on the agreement. Most trade observers 
foresee the U.S. ratifying the agreement by mid-2019. 

The implementation of CUSMA will take place on the 
first day of the third month after all parties have ratified 
it. Once this agreement is fully implemented after 15 
years, Canada will have granted an additional 12.7 Mkg 
of chicken market access to the U.S. Furthermore, based 
on 2017 production, the combined access conceded by 
Canada in the CPTPP and CUSMA will increase the level 
of market access from 7.5% of annual production to 
10.7% after 18 years, once both agreements have fully 
entered into force.
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Government Consultations on 
Adjustment Programs

The Government of Canada has announced that, in light 
of the implementation of both the CPTPP and eventually 
the new CUSMA, it will be convening a poultry and egg 
working group that will focus on developing short-term 
and long-term strategies that ensure the poultry and 
egg sectors are able to adjust to the new levels of market 
access and continue to succeed despite them. CFC will 
be an active participant in the poultry and egg working 
group, guiding policy and program development to 
guarantee that the chicken sector remains robust well 
into the future.

In addition to guiding the design of adjustment 
programs, CFC will insist on the government fixing the 
import control issues that have long been affecting 
the domestic chicken market, such as the ongoing 
fraudulent importation of broiler meat that has been 
intentionally mislabeled as spent fowl meat. This issue 
can be addressed through the deployment of the spent 
fowl DNA test developed by Trent University with CFC’s 
assistance. 

Another issue concerns the adjustments required to 
the Duties Relief Program (DRP), an import to re-export 
program managed by the Canada Border Services 
Agency, in order to ensure it provides adequate 
safeguards to address the potential for diversion into 
the domestic market. CFC looks forward to working 
with the Government of Canada to ensure its actions 
support the short-and long-term interests of Canadian 
chicken farmers. 

STRATEGIC PLANNING
CFC adheres to a rigorous strategic planning process 
to provide the Canadian chicken industry with clear, 
common goals for the coming year – and for the future 
– ensuring a solid direction and purpose for all industry 
stakeholders.

Development of the Next Five-Year 
Strategic Plan (2019–2023)

2018 was the final year of the current Chicken Farmers 
of Canada (CFC) five-year strategic plan, and a new 
Five-Year Strategic Planning Steering Committee was 
formed to survey the industry, define its mission, 
articulate its vision, and plot a course for success in 
strong partnerships, new possibilities, and to make 
recommendations for future priorities.

The eight-member, industry-wide Strategic Planning 
Steering Committee was created in late 2017 and 
included: 

zz Benoît Fontaine, CFC Chair (Quebec farmer) 

zz Ed Benjamins (Ontario farmer, provincial board 
Chair)

zz Ghislain Ouimet, St-Hubert (Foodservice)

zz Jason Born (Alberta farmer)

zz Richard Davies, Olymel (Quebec processor)

zz Cheryl Firby, Maple Leaf Foods (Ontario processor)

zz Jason Schedewitz, Loblaws (Retailer)

zz Ron teStroete (Nova Scotia farmer)

They completed their work and made its 
recommendation to the board to help with the ongoing 
evolution of our industry. That new five-year strategy 
was unveiled and the Board used it as the basis to review 
and form the annual strategic plans for the coming year.

Annual Strategic Planning Exercise

Each year, the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management Team take the opportunity to celebrate 
successes of the previous year and set priorities for the 
next. 

Directors reviewed progress made in 2018 on various 
key issues, conducted an environmental scan, and 
reviewed the draft action plans for the coming year. This 
included discussions around the goals and priorities for 
the 2019–2023 strategic plan. 

During the session, the group conducted breakout 
sessions to discuss the top priorities for 2018. These are 
spelled out in the CFC Annual Report.
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Several critical priorities were identified:

zz AMR/AMU (antimicrobial resistance and use)

zz Branding

zz Government Relations Strategy

zz Import Controls

zz Pathogen Reduction Strategy

zz Public Relations Strategy

This priority-setting process provides a well-paved path 
to the future, buttressed by the support and cooperation 
of all partners.

ANIMAL CARE
CFC has a robust animal care program to demonstrate 
the level of care on Canadian chicken farms. 

The Raised by a Canadian Farmer Animal Care 
Program has been in place since 2009, and it remains 
the only program capable of ensuring that animal 
care standards are implemented and audited on all 
chicken farms in Canada. The program was reviewed in 
2017/2018 and revised to bring it in line with new Code 
of Practice requirements. A new manual was created, 
and circulated to farmers, with the new standards being 
the basis of audits beginning January 1st, 2019.

Changes were made in the following areas:

zz Section 1 – Worker’s and Management

z� Codes of conduct

z� Training and records

zz Section 3 – Environment 

z� Air quality and lighting

zz Section 5 – Bird Monitoring and Handling 

z� Proper handling practices

zz Section 6 – Health Care Practices 

z� Flock Health Plan

z� Mortality

z� Euthanasia

zz Section 7 – Emergency Management and 

Preparedness 

z� Contingency plan

zz Section 8 – Catching and Loading 

z� Farm building and design

z� Flock evaluation

z� Flock care post-catching 

POULTRY RESEARCH
 
Research and innovation is the foundation that 
provides farmers with the information and tools to be 
able to protect bird health and welfare. It allows our 
industry to grow as we look for ways to make our quality 
product even better and respond to evolving consumer 
preferences. 

CFC is a founding member of the Canadian Poultry 
Research Council (CPRC) which fosters innovation, 
science, and education in poultry research. Since its 
inception, CPRC has allocated over $4.4 million to foster 
poultry research, and these funds have been leveraged 
to over $25 million. Rick Kaptein of Ontario is the CFC 
representative on the CPRC Board.

Poultry Research Cluster

Since 2013 the Canadian Poultry Research Council had 
been administering the second poultry science cluster, 
part of the growing Forward 2 Program. The program 
ran for 5 years and came to an end in March this year, 
with all 17 projects being completed. 

CPRC worked throughout 2017 and 2018 to submit 
an application for the new research cluster program 
through Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) as 
part of the Canadian Agricultural Partnership Program. 

The new cluster application includes 29 different 
research activities under 4 different themes: 

zz Antimicrobial use and resistance

zz Poultry health and welfare

zz Food safety

zz Sustainability
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A key component of this cluster activity will be the 
inclusion of a knowledge and technology transfer (KTT) 
activity, to ensure that research findings are shared 
throughout the industry. 

SUSTAINABILITY
Sustainability is important to Canadian consumers. 
They want to know where their food comes from and 
they want to know that the work behind producing 
it is environmentally, economically and socially 
sustainable – and chicken farmers deliver. CFC released 
a new Sustainability Report in 2018 which reaffirms the 
objectives and values of our Sustainability Excellence 
Commitment that was initially launched in 2016. 

The four key sustainability values are: 

1. Protecting bird health and welfare

2. Producing safe chicken for Canadians

3. Preserving the health of the land and of our farms

4. Providing value to Canada, and affordable food to 
Canadians through supply management 

A notable addition to this revised report is the results 
from the recently completed life cycle assessment (LCA). 
These positive findings add to the strong value and 
assurances provided by, and demonstrated through, 
the Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand.  Conducting 
an LCA is part of CFC’s strategy to support our industry’s 
work in maintaining consumer and buyer confidence 
that supply chain risks are adequately addressed. This 
will help our industry determine which aspects of their 
production are most efficient, and where they can 
improve efficiencies, reduce environmental impacts, 
or improve social interactions along their entire value 
chains.

ON-FARM FOOD SAFETY
This year marks 20 years since the Raised by a Canadian 
Farmer On-Farm Food Safety Program (OFFSP) was 
first developed, and CFC continues to implement the 
program from coast to coast. The program emphasizes 
animal health, cleanliness and safety throughout each 
step of the production cycle, and mandates biosecurity 

measures to protect animal health and prevent flock 
infections from outside sources. 

The program also maintains full recognition from 
the federal, provincial, and territorial governments 
for on-farm food safety programs, and is subject to 
regular reviews to do so. Beyond the requirements 
for this recognition, OFFSP undergoes a third party 
audit from NSF International in the same way that the 
Raised by a Canadian Farmer Animal Care Program 
does. Compliance and engagement with the program 
remains high, with 100% of farmers maintaining their 
certification. This is yet another component of the 
value and assurances offered through the Raised by a 
Canadian Farmer brand.

Pathogen Reduction

Pathogen reduction in poultry is a high priority for both 
government and industry, and in fact CFC deemed it to 
be a critical priority for the organization in 2019. CFC is 
participating on a government-industry working group 
to proactively examine surveillance and mitigation 
measures for pathogens at different levels in the value-
chain, particularly Salmonella Enteritidis (SE). 

Antimicrobial Resistance and Use

The issues of antimicrobial resistance and use (AMR 
and AMU) remain at the forefront of CFC’s work. We are 
implementing an antimicrobial use strategy to meet 
consumer expectations while protecting the health and 
welfare of birds, and Canada’s chicken farmers continue 
to evolve their production practices in response to 
consumer preferences. This is a key area of our on-
going work to improve the value and assurances offered 
through the Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand.

As part of the AMU strategy, the preventive use of 
Category II antimicrobials was eliminated at the end 
of 2018. This follows the successful elimination of the 
preventive use of Category I antibiotics in 2014. The 
third phase of the strategy is a goal to eliminate the 
preventive use of Category III antimicrobials by the end 
of 2020; CFC will be conducting a review of this goal in 
2019 to ensure the industry is prepared. The strategy 
is built on the foundations of reduction, surveillance, 
stewardship, and research and innovation. It maintains 
the use of ionophores (those antimicrobials not used 
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in human medicine), along with antibiotics for disease 
treatment to maintain the health and welfare of birds.

The Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial 
Resistance Surveillance (CIPARS) continues to monitor 
antimicrobial use and resistance levels, and this 
information will be especially useful going forward, as 
CFC conducts an assessment in 2019 of the Category III 
elimination goal.  

Coordinated efforts 

Governments are also actively focused on the issue 
of antimicrobial use and resistance, and important 
regulatory changes came into effect this year which 
complement CFC’s AMU strategy work. As of December 
1st, all medically important antimicrobials (Category 
I, II, and III) required a veterinary prescription and 
were no longer available over the counter. CFC’s AMU 
strategy encourages increased veterinary oversight of 
antimicrobial use, and this regulatory change helps to 
encourage that. At the same time, all claims for growth 
promotion were removed from drug labels and this also 
dovetails well with CFC’s efforts to ensure responsible 
use of antimicrobials. 

The objectives and approach of CFC’s strategy are 
consistent with the Canadian government’s Pan-
Canadian Framework on Antimicrobial Resistance 
and Antimicrobial Use. In 2018, CFC continued to 
collaborate with government on the development of 
the forthcoming Pan-Canadian action plan and will 
continue to work with government on this identified 
priority.  

PUBLIC RELATIONS (PR) 
STRATEGY
Supply Management 

2018 marked a rise in attacks against supply 
management, mainly due to the ongoing NAFTA 
discussions and the finalization of CUSMA. Op-Eds, letters 
to the editor were submitted to various news outlets and 
posted on chickenfarmers.ca. In order to complement 
these initiatives, infographics and videos were updated 
to reflect numbers that were more recent in order to be 
shared on social media. As we’ve seen in the last years, 
infographics are popular with Canadians and help tell a 

story using compelling facts and strong images.

Day in the Life

In 2018, CFC was proud to launch the “Day in the Life” 
initiative, a compelling look at what a typical day on a 
chicken farm would be. In late 2017, CFC filmed the first 
videos of this series, profiling Steve DeVries from Ontario 
and Meggie Villeneuve from Quebec. These videos 
were released in early 2018 and immediately attracted 
attention from across the country. In late spring 2018, 
CFC set out to film two more of these videos, profiling 
Tim Ansems from Nova Scotia and Barry Uyterlinde 
from Prince Edward Island. These videos will be released 
in early 2019 with a big push on social media. CFC has 
already begun work on the next videos in this series, to 
be filmed in 2019.

Social Media and Chickenfarmers.ca

Chickenfarmers.ca underwent an extreme facelift in 
2018, as it launched a new look in January. This long 
overdue revamp included a newly organized resources 
section, an easier way to navigate through the website 
and a new platform to easily promote all the videos CFC 
produces. The new look and feel was very well received 
and will continue to help promote new materials 
created by CFC.

CFC also launched the finalized version of The Social 
Media Toolkit for Farmers. This document created by 
CFC outlines the basic use of social media for farmers 
who may not know how social media works and is 
interested to know where to begin. The toolkit also 
included a list of all CFC social media accounts and 
some do’s and don’ts when it comes to using social 
media. CFC hired farmer and social media guru Andrew 
Campbell to train farmers how to promote farming on 
social media. His presentations in various provinces 
were well received and farmers found it very useful. 
CFC will continue to work with Andrew in the upcoming 
year to continue educating farmers on the benefits of 
using social media in order to promote chicken farming 
across Canada.

Young Farmers Program

In 2018, CFC created the Young Farmers Program is to 
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bring together young farmers from across the country 
to learn about how the Canadian chicken industry 
works, and to share their experiences and knowledge, 
as well as to identify new leaders in the industry.
Young chicken farmers from family farms across the 
country will gain valuable experience to bolster their 
entry into the chicken industry, and reinforce the 
timeless values that are the backbone of rural Canada. 
This Program will give them the tools and training to 
continue growing in the industry, with the long-term 
goal of having them play a larger role in promoting 
chicken farming in Canada.

Every year, five young farmers will be selected to partake 
in the 18-month program. In order to represent the 
chicken farmer population in Canada, CFC has installed 
a representative distribution of candidates from across 
the country – one representative from the Atlantic 
Provinces, one from Ontario, one from Quebec and two 
from the Western provinces. By the time they complete 
12 months of the program, they will be in a position to 
mentor the next group of five representatives – ensuring 
that there is always carry over and knowledge transfer.

The following young farmers were chosen for the 2019-
2020 Program:

zz Nicholas Budd from New Brunswick as the Atlantic 
representative

zz Frédéric Emery Dufresne from Quebec as the 
Quebec representative

zz Jonathan Giret from Ontario as the Ontario 
representative

zz Tiffany Martinka from Saskatchewan as one of the 
Western representatives

zz André Poulin from Alberta as one of the Western 
representatives

National Chicken Month

2018 marked CFC’s third annual National Chicken 
Month! Throughout the month, consumers across the 
country got talking about the importance of Canadian 
chicken and all the benefits it brings to Canada. 

Activities and events included the latest instalment 
of the cooking contest, Chefs d’oeuvres, a worst chef 

contest, and a ramped up presence on social media.

This year, we replaced the recipe contest with “Canada’s 
Worst Chicken Chef” contest. Consumers had to submit 
their story in order to get a chance to win a trip for 2 
to Ottawa, private cooking lessons with celebrity chef 
Michael Blackie and $1k spending cash. Winners Malissa 
and James were chosen for their original entry and had 
a wonderful time with Chef Blackie. 

And over on Instagram, consumers could like, tag a 
friend, and comment on a picture of a swag prize pack 
for a chance to win. This was the first time CFC used this 
popular method to promote its messaging, as well as 
use Instagram as a method for contest, and it allowed 
CFC to grow that Instagram account to get more 
followers.

GOVERNMENT 
RELATIONS HIGHLIGHTS
Lobby Day

The 2018 CFC Lobby Day was held on May 29th. CFC 
Directors and provincial board members spread out 
over Parliament Hill and participated in over 90 meetings 
with over 100 people, including Ministers, Parliamentary 
Secretaries, MPs, Senators, and Hill staffers, discussing 
how they can better help and support the Canadian 
chicken industry. This annual event is an important 
activity in the Chicken Farmers of Canada government 
relations strategy, by building relationships, discussing 
our issues, and creating awareness of our industry and 
our brand.

Prime Minister at the Downtown Diner

The annual SM5 Downtown Diner on Sparks Street in 
Ottawa had a special guest in 2018 – Prime Minister 
Justin Trudeau! The PM stopped by with Agriculture 
Minister Lawrence MacAulay to chat with farmers about 
trade and the importance of supply management.

Party Conventions

CFC staff and representatives attended the Liberal 
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and Conservative party policy conventions both 
held in Halifax, in April and August respectively. 
Representatives attend these biennial events in hopes 
of building relationships with Parliamentarians, their 
staff, and grassroots members, while ensuring the voice 
of the Canadian chicken industry is heard. 

NAFTA negotiations

Launched in 2017, the NAFTA renegotiations concluded 
in late September of 2018. Chicken Farmers of Canada 
representatives attended every agriculture negotiating 
round throughout the year. The new deal, coined the 
Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA), 
granted the US 62.9 million kg of country-specific 
access to the Canadian chicken market. Once fully 
implemented, Canada will provide a further 12.7 million 
kg of CUSMA market access, in addition to the current 
level of 90.1 million kg.

Joint Annual Reception

SM4 groups and producers hosted their Joint Annual 
Reception at the end of March in Ottawa. Attendees 
included Parliamentarians, and chicken, turkey, egg, 
and hatching egg producers from all over the country. 
Treasury Board President and MP Scott Brison whose 
riding in Nova Scotia contains the most poultry farms 
in the province gave remarks on behalf of the federal 
government.

Farm Tours

Chicken Farmers of Canada hosted two farm tours 
with MPs in 2018. Of note, Ginette Petitpas-Taylor, the 
Minister of Health visited a farm outside of Moncton, 
NB to learn how the important work Canadian chicken 
farmers do keeps the birds and Canadians’ food safe.

CFA

The Canadian Federation of Agriculture focused on 
some important initiatives in 2018. Whether it was 
the ongoing NAFTA negotiations, labour shortages, 
BRM review, or the Agri-Food Strategy Table 
recommendations, CFA represented the voice of 
Canadian farmers. As CFA members, CFC participated 

in a number of these discussions, including the annual 
roundtable with Federal-Provincial-Territorial (FPT) 
agriculture Ministers and annual Lobby Day. 

FPT

The CFA held a roundtable with Federal, Provincial, 
and Territorial Ministers in July to discuss emerging 
topics of importance in agriculture. The roundtable 
featured opening remarks from Agriculture and Agri-
Food Minister Lawrence MacAulay, as well as the host-
Minister of Agriculture from BC, Lana Popham. The key 
discussion topic was the Agri-Food Economic Strategy 
Table and how the FPT governments can address 
the barriers to growth and better collaborate with 
industry on the strategy. FPT Ministers then met for 
the remainder of the week to address trade issues, the 
ongoing BRM review, the Agri-Food Economic Strategy 
Table’s recommendations, and the cannabis industry.

Industry Showcase

CFC hosted an industry showcase in late November on 
Parliament Hill, highlighting a variety of aspects of the 
Canadian chicken sector such as animal care, supply 
management, and processing. Competing with a 
number of other events that evening, the showcase was 
still very well attended by MPs, Senators, staffers, and 
industry invitees. Two thousand dollars was donated to 
the Ottawa Food Bank as a result of guests spinning our 
“Wheel of Chicken”. 

Healthy Eating Strategy

Health Canada has been developing a new strategy that 
aims to improve the food environment in Canada to 
make it easier for Canadians to make healthier choices. 
As such, CFC lobbied the Minister of Health and her 
office in 2018 pertaining to the introduction of Front-
of-Pack labelling and proposed changes to the Canada 
Food Guide. 
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Mainstream Posted Live Price - 2018 Difference

Province A-148 A-149 A-150 A-151 A-152 A-153 A-154 (Jan - Dec)
BC $1.5550 $1.5780 $1.6330  $1.6930 $1.6590 $1.6450 $1.6290 $0.0900 

Organic Posted Live Price - 2018
Period Organic
A-148  $3.5800 

A-149  $3.6600 

A-150  $3.6900 

A-151  $3.7100 

A-152  $3.6600 

A-153  $3.6800 

A-154  $3.5900 

Pricing for Specialty Chicken - 2018
(kilograms live weight)
Silkie Chicken
A-148  $3.98 

A-149  $4.00 

A-150  $4.00 

A-151  $4.04 

A-152  $4.04 

A-153  $4.14 

A-154  $4.14 

Pricing for Specialty Chicken - 2018   (kilograms live weight)
TC Chicken

Loong Kong Bradner SD Bradner Long Cycle Shondon or Hong 
Kong golden

A-148  $2.60  $2.65  $2.76  $2.65 

A-149  $2.60  $2.66  $2.77  $2.65 

A-150  $2.60  $2.66  $2.77  $2.65 

A-151  $2.63  $2.68  $2.80  $2.68 

A-152  $2.63  $2.68  $2.80  $2.68 

A-153  $2.73  $2.72  $2.84  $2.73 

A-154  $2.73  $2.72  $2.84  $2.73 

STATISTICS
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Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)
Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2018 Mainstream  234,679,130  11,662,488  246,341,618 

   Broilers  227,884,444  11,662,488  239,546,932 

   Organic  6,794,686 0  6,794,686 

Specialty  6,905,871  236,917  7,142,788 

    TC  5,979,071  0    5,979,071 

    Silkie  926,800  236,917  1,163,717 

Total  241,585,001  11,899,405  253,484,406 

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2017 Mainstream  216,443,943  10,383,741  226,827,684 

   Broilers  210,457,569  9,428,520  219,886,089 

   Organic  5,986,374  955,221  6,941,595 

Specialty  5,922,022  426,736  6,348,758 

    TC  5,178,640  0    5,178,640 

    Silkie  743,382  426,736  1,170,118 

Total  222,365,965  10,810,477  233,176,442 

In 2017 BC Produced 2.81 % more than  in 2016

Provincial Production of Chicken 2016-2018
Production from Jan. 1 to Dec. 31, 2016  - 2018 (eviscerated weight)
Province 2018 2017 18/17 2016 17/16
B.C. 186,060,754 171,926,650 8.2% 167,564,855 2.6%
Alberta 122,367,053 115,202,276 6.2% 108,143,698 6.5%
Saskatchewan 45,980,072 45,398,467 1.3% 44,440,563 2.2%
Manitoba 51,510,431 50,211,654 2.6% 48,959,081 2.6%
Western 405,918,310 382,739,047 6.1% 369,108,197 3.7%
Ontario 426,421,692 401,413,217 6.2% 377,180,346 6.4%
Quebec 335,690,714 328,265,089 2.3% 311,143,246 5.5%
Central 762,112,406 729,678,306 4.4% 688,323,592 6.0%
New Brunswick 33,580,770 32,559,887 3.1% 31,736,830 2.6%
Nova Scotia 42,561,410 40,796,761 4.3% 39,498,174 3.3%
P.E.I. 4,504,575 4,210,803 7.0% 4,156,392 1.3%
Newfoundland 16,412,610 13,849,819 18.5% 15,648,563 -11.5%
Atlantic 97,059,365 91,417,270 6.2% 91,039,959 0.4%
TOTAL 1,265,090,081 1,203,834,623 5.1% 1,148,471,748 4.8%

data provided by J Rus of CFC Jan 30/18
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2018 Provincial Farm Gate Sales
Mainstream  $454,819,774.89 

Specialty (TC)  $16,152,033.23 

Organic  $24,820,017.29 

Specialty (Silkie)  $4,711,391.40 

Total  $500,503,216.81 

2018 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods
Amount of quota marketings going through licence 
agencies in 2018:

Period Start 
Date

End
Date

Mainstream 
Quota Utilization

A-148 21-Jan-18 17-Mar-18 112.32%

A-149 18-Mar-18 12-May-18 114.67%

A-150 13-May-18 7-Jul-18 113.03%

A-151 8-Jul-18 1-Sep-18 119.87%

A-152 2-Sep-18 27-Oct-18 115.33%

A-153 28-Oct-18 22-Dec-18 118.23%

A-154 23-Dec-18 16-Feb-19 109.35%

2018 BC Allocations received from CFC (Kg eviscerated weight)
Period Domestic (Broiler and 

Organic)
Market Development (Broiler, 
Organic and Specialty)

Specialty Allocation (TC and 
Silkie)

TOTAL 
ALLOCATION

A-148  25,262,112  1,559,670  749,357  27,571,139 

A-149  26,200,157  1,567,755  786,238  28,554,150 

A-150  26,102,991  1,572,900  786,501  28,462,392 

A-151  27,222,193  1,761,060  834,823  29,818,076 

A-152  26,144,148  1,747,095  822,883  28,714,126 

A-153  26,328,448  1,631,700  814,414  28,774,562 

A-154  24,240,038  1,631,700  866,349  26,738,087 

Numbers provided by CFC

Provincial Quota Holdings 2018 (kgs live weight/cycle)
Lower  Mainland Vancouver  Island Interior Total
Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %

Mainstream 222  26,760,374 12  547,637 50 3,862,893 284 89% 31,170,904 98%

Specialty 36  600,326 0  0   0  0   36 11%  600,326 2%

Total 258 27,360,700 12  547,637 50 3,862,893 320 100% 31,771,230 100%

% 81% 86% 4% 2% 16% 12%

2,000 bird 
(annual)  
Permit 
Holders

21 37 74 132

We have 315 Registered growers as 5 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota.
Numbers do not include the research permit holder.
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-148)
A-148 (Jan 21 - Mar 17/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 36,666,754 37,824,033 103.2%

Alta. 24,465,872 25,074,449 102.5%

Sask. 9,504,780 9,655,577 101.6%

Man. 10,400,607 10,595,248 101.9%

Ont. 85,465,068 87,629,561 102.5%

Que. 69,469,794 69,352,138 99.8%

N.B. 6,695,317 6,666,134 99.6%

N.S. 8,384,697 8,678,799 103.5%

P.E.I. 899,185 892,458 99.3%

Nfld. 3,356,365 3,359,263 100.1%

Canada 255,308,439 259,727,660 101.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-149)
A-149 (Mar 18 - May 12/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 38,166,915 39,232,579 102.8%

Alta. 25,276,373 25,248,798 99.9%

Sask. 9,652,177 9,656,316 100.0%

Man. 10,838,626 10,828,228 99.9%

Ont. 87,173,862 88,915,899 102.0%

Que. 70,351,760 70,350,222 100.0%

N.B. 6,874,488 7,064,901 102.8%

N.S. 8,590,679 8,626,603 100.4%

P.E.I. 905,446 929,555 102.7%

Nfld. 3,404,528 3,463,557 101.7%

Canada 261,234,854 264,316,658 101.2%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-150)
A-150 (May 13 - Jul 7/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 38,055,285 39,253,314 103.1%

Alta. 25,384,169 25,396,657 100.0%

Sask. 9,629,003 9,409,930 97.7%

Man. 10,739,927 10,905,536 101.5%

Ont. 88,527,901 85,536,011 96.6%

Que. 71,381,172 70,123,684 98.2%

N.B. 7,008,452 7,425,423 105.9%

N.S. 8,767,135 9,313,714 106.2%

P.E.I. 896,797 918,979 102.5%

Nfld. 3,383,890 3,620,987 107.0%

Canada 263,773,731 261,904,235 99.3%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-151)
A-151 (Jul 8 - Sep 1/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 39,514,693 39,995,139 101.2%

Alta. 26,526,796 25,938,846 97.8%

Sask. 9,664,446 9,370,745 97.0%

Man. 11,205,702 10,965,767 97.9%

Ont. 91,512,892 89,557,468 97.9%

Que. 72,104,120 71,654,392 99.4%

N.B. 7,134,231 7,044,058 98.7%

N.S. 8,934,927 8,700,676 97.4%

P.E.I. 946,211 929,513 98.2%

Nfld. 3,523,614 3,337,730 94.7%

Canada 271,067,632 267,494,334 98.7%

The following is the Chicken Farmers of Canada 2018 total provincial quota allocation and the actual 
utilization levels (kgs live weight)
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-152)
A-152 (Sep 2 - Oct 27/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 38,662,927 40,013,005 103.5%

Alta. 25,706,005 25,953,224 101.0%

Sask. 9,677,299 9,841,645 101.7%

Man. 10,762,961 10,465,375 97.2%

Ont. 88,753,370 88,977,459 100.3%

Que. 70,420,167 70,037,185 99.5%

N.B. 6,929,786 7,069,967 102.0%

N.S. 8,680,412 8,986,220 103.5%

P.E.I. 927,718 947,771 102.2%

Nfld. 3,424,386 3,357,685 98.1%

Canada 263,945,031 265,649,536 100.6%

Quota Utilization by Province (TOTAL)
TOTAL (A-148 to A-153)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 229,410,479 235,281,562 102.6%

Alta. 153,402,566 154,122,823 100.5%

Sask. 57,682,374 57,694,454 100.0%

Man. 141,987,604 139,643,432 98.3%

Ont. 511,744,528 514,954,815 100.6%

Que. 360,786,377 360,691,916 100.0%

N.B. 41,659,462 42,417,153 101.8%

N.S. 52,329,040 53,487,767 102.2%

P.E.I. 5,517,737 5,580,865 101.1%

Nfld. 20,558,772 20,660,588 100.5%

Canada 1,582,984,128 1,593,627,884 100.7%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-153)
A-153 (Oct 28 - Dec 22/18)

Province Allocation Production %
BC 38,343,905 38,963,492 101.6%

Alta. 26,043,351 26,510,849 101.8%

Sask. 9,554,669 9,760,241 102.2%

Man. 10,717,582 11,313,034 105.6%

Ont. 90,443,155 93,772,201 103.7%

Que. 72,155,032 73,403,264 101.7%

N.B. 7,017,188 7,146,670 101.8%

N.S. 8,971,190 9,181,755 102.3%

P.E.I. 942,380 962,589 102.1%

Nfld. 3,465,989 3,521,366 101.6%

Canada 267,654,441 274,535,461 102.6%

Source:  CFC and AAFC (AAFC data where CFC data is incomplete)  
 
The Allocation information above includes all inter-provindial quota transfers and 
revisions to market development/export commitments.
Note: Allocation includes both domestic and market development. Production is 
all birds processed in each province.

Levy Rates (cents/kg)
Province Provincial 

Levy
CFC Levy Total 

Levy
BC 1.37 0.53 1.90

Alberta 1.22 0.53 1.75

Saskatchewan 1.41 0.53 1.94

Manitoba 1.50 0.53 2.03

Ontario 1.60 0.53 2.13

Quebec 1.53 0.53 2.06

NB 0.66 0.53 1.19

NS 0.95 0.53 1.48

PEI 1.20 0.53 1.73

NFLD 1.06 0.53 1.59

Source: CFC effective November 20, 2018
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Operating Budget 2019
Revenue
Levies 5,047,000

Licenses 7,500

Permits 4,000

Domestic lease fees 100,000

Interest 39,000

Other 85,000

Total Revenue 5,282,500

Expenses
Audit, Legal, Consulting 350,000

BCCGA operating grant 662,955

Board member expenses 430,000

CFC Levy 1,387,925

Rent 116,691

Salaries and benefits 1,125,000

Operations 873,900

Depreciation 52,000

Total Expenses 4,998,471

Surplus 284,029

Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989
1992

1995

1998

2001

2005

2008 2011

1983

2004*

2014
2017

2018

37,791,890 kg

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg

157,383,944 kg 153,678,565 kg
160,944,862 kg

171,361,368 kg

186,311,038 kg

*(avian influenza)
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Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989
1992

1995

1998

2001

2005

2008 2011

1983

2004*

2014
2017

2018

37,791,890 kg

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg

157,383,944 kg 153,678,565 kg
160,944,862 kg

171,361,368 kg

186,311,038 kg

*(avian influenza)
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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and
ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate
accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is
required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee are composed entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of the
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial
reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The Board fulfils these responsibilities
by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management and external
auditors. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Board's external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the Members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

Executive Director
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board: 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (the "Organization"), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Organization as
at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Organization’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Organization’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal
control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way, Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877)853-9471
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organization to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

February 18, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 350,378 1,024,322
Accounts receivable 610,215 600,599
Prepaid expenses 77,623 44,076

1,038,216 1,668,997

Capital assets (Note 3) 229,780 172,135

Investments restricted for contingency fund (Note 4) 2,179,550 2,566,275

3,447,546 4,407,407

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 478,009 234,919
Government remittances payable 6,894 16,200
Deferred revenue 20,993 29,330

505,896 280,449

Commitments (Note 5)

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 229,780 172,135
Restricted for contingency fund 2,179,550 2,566,275
Unrestricted 532,320 1,388,548

2,941,650 4,126,958

3,447,546 4,407,407

Approved on behalf of the Board

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Revenues
Grower assessments (Note 6) 4,816,382 4,365,533
Overmarketing levies 363,215 234,683
Domestic lease income 27,418 40,909
CFC funding - Summer Meeting - 40,000
IAF funding 11,332 24,856
Interest and sundry 75,923 81,466
Licenses 8,000 7,500
Permit fees 2,800 3,400

5,305,070 4,798,347

Operational expenses (Schedule 1) 5,541,808 4,435,376

Excess (deficiency of) revenues over expenses (236,738) 362,971

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Invested in
capital assets

Restricted for
contingency

fund

Unrestricted 2018 2017

Net assets, beginning of year 172,135 2,566,275 1,388,548 4,126,958 3,763,987

Excess (deficiency of) revenues over expenses (26,123) - (210,615) (236,738) 362,971

Distribution of prior year's surplus  (Note 9) - - (948,570) (948,570) -

Investment in capital assets (net)  83,768 - (83,768) - -

Income reinvested in investments restricted for
contingency fund  

- 48,275 (48,275) - -

Redemption of investments  - (435,000) 435,000 - -

Net assets, end of year 229,780 2,179,550 532,320 2,941,650 4,126,958

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Excess (deficiency of) revenues over expenses (236,738) 362,971
Amortization 26,123 20,669
Gain on disposal of capital assets - (166)

(210,615) 383,474
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (9,616) 52,849
Prepaid expenses (33,547) 10,809
Accounts payable and accruals 243,090 (35,835)
Government remittances payable (9,306) (12,927)
Deferred revenue (8,337) (6,254)

(28,331) 392,116

Financing
Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers (948,570) -

Investing
Purchase of capital assets (83,768) (66,022)
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets - 600
Purchase of investments restricted for contingency fund (48,275) (48,599)
Redemption of investments in contingency fund 435,000 -

302,957 (114,021)

Increase (decrease) in cash resources (673,944) 278,095
Cash resources, beginning of year 1,024,322 746,227

Cash resources, end of year 350,378 1,024,322

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

1. Organization

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all
classes of chicken in British Columbia.  The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations set out in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board
in Canada, and include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and term deposits with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that
prevent its use for current purposes are included in investments restricted for contingency fund.

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.

Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their
estimated useful lives. 

Rate
Computer hardware 30 %
Computer software 100 %
Furniture and office equipment 10 %
Website and internally developed software 20 %

No amortization is recorded for capital assets acquired but not put into service at year-end.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time
the leasehold improvement is purchased.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount.  Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Any impairment is included in the
statement of operations for the year.

Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Fund accounting

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis. Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting
purposes into funds. These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors. 

Unrestricted Fund
The Unrestricted Fund reports the revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the Board.

Capital Assets Fund
The Capital Assets Fund reports the Board’s capital assets and presents the flow of funds related to their acquisition and
disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.

Restricted for Contingency Fund
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash and cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000
and not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances.
Any amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the
amount of the levy paid by a grower. The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted
Contingency Fund and/or the levy rate at any time. In order to qualify for a distribution, a grower must be in good standing
and be a current grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared. Investment income generated will be re-
invested into the Restricted for Contingency Fund. 

Revenue recognition

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors and collectability is
reasonably assured. Overmarketing levies in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced
to the grower approximately three weeks after the end of the production period. Overmarketing levies are recognized on the
date of each individual grower’s shipment, when collectability is reasonably assured.

Domestic lease charges, payable to the Board in respect to quota usage during a production period, are invoiced in
accordance with part 43 of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.

Revenue from other sources are recorded when services are provided or collectability is reasonably assured. 

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. 

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in
the statement of operations in the period in which they become known. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments

The Board recognizes its financial instruments when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued
in all other related party transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with Section
3840 Related Party Transactions.

At initial recognition, the Board may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Board has not made such an election during the year.

The Board subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market and all derivatives at fair
value. Fair value is determined by quoted price quotations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in an active market
are subsequently measured at cost less impairment. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost. 

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the statement of operations for the current
period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial instruments
subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

Financial asset impairment

The Board assesses impairment of all of its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. The Board groups assets
for impairment testing when there are numerous assets affected by the same factors. Management considers whether there
has been a breach in contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments in determining whether
objective evidence of impairment exists. When there is an indication of impairment, the Board determines whether it has
resulted in a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows during the year. If so, the
Board reduces the carrying amount of any impaired financial assets to the highest of: the present value of cash flows
expected to be generated by holding the assets; the amount that could be realized by selling the assets; and the amount
expected to be realized by exercising any rights to collateral held against those assets. Any impairment, which is not
considered temporary, is included in current year statement of operations.

The Board reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The amount of the reversal is recognized
in the statement of operations in the year the reversal occurs.

3. Capital assets 

2018 2017
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Computer hardware 223,114 202,664 20,450 19,381
Computer software 157,857 157,857 - -
Furniture and office equipment 357,444 325,246 32,198 31,969
Leasehold improvements 209,417 209,417 - -
Website and internally developed software 283,779 106,647 177,132 120,785

1,231,611 1,001,831 229,780 172,135

Included in website and internally developed software is $116,993 of costs for software under development, for which no
amortization has been taken. (2017 - $45,613).
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

4. Investments restricted for contingency fund 

Investments restricted for contingency fund consist of six term deposits which bear interest at 1.94%, maturing in May 2023.
In the prior year, the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of six term deposits which earned interest at
1.90%, which were renewed in May 2018. During the year, the Board withdrew $435,000 from the term deposits. 

5. Commitments 

(a)  The Board leases office space with monthly rent of $4,724 (2017 -  $4,724) until June 30, 2019, including triple net
expenses. 

(b) The Board has entered into a contract to receive IT support with monthly fees of $2,100 (2017 - $2,100), which can be
cancelled upon request with computer hardware buyout.

(c) The Board has signed agreements for social media management services with monthly costs of $1,000 (2017 - $1,000),
which can be cancelled upon request.

(d) The Board has entered into an agreement with Alberta Chicken Producers and Chicken Farmers of Saskatchewan to
develop and license a computer software program ("Grower Program"). As at December 31, 2018, $116,993 has been paid
toward development of the software. The Board has committed to pay its share of the cost to complete the program, as well
as its share of hosting and maintenance costs on a monthly basis.

(e) The Board has entered into four vehicle leases and two equipment leases with total scheduled payments (including GST
and PST) as follows: 

2019 27,247
2020 26,429
2021 25,610
2022 3,558
2023 2,965

6. Grower assessments

The levy on all growers is 1.90 cents (2017 - 1.90) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which
is inclusive of the CFC service fee.  Of the levy assessed, 0.53 cents (2017 - 0.53) is remitted to the CFC for services
provided.

7. Unused credit facility 

The Board has an unused credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the following funding:

(a)  $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans.  This facility bears interest at
bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

(b)  $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the Chicken Farmers of Canada ("CFC") for liquidated damages
pertaining to potential levies on excess production allocated to the province.  The borrowings under this facility are due on
demand.

The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the Board, certified copies of Board
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $644,000 and an enforceable letter of
undertaking from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have
agreed to purchase.

The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds
with processors and provision of weekly production reports.

8
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2018

8. Related party transactions 

The following related party transactions occurred during the year:

A net operating grant totaling $746,130 (2017 - $635,413) and rent expense of $60,000 (2017 - $60,000) were paid to the
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association ("BCCGA"), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia. As at
December 31, 2018, the BCCGA had an operating deficit of $35,760 (2017 - surplus of $47,742). Given the deficit, no
portion of the operating grant will be returned to the Board in 2018.

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government. It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board
which approves the Association's annual operating budget. 

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

9. Distribution of prior years' surplus

The Board distributes a surplus to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select
current liabilities and deferred revenue at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses. The following outlines
the funds that were distributed to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the
growers in the year the surplus occurred:

2018 $   948,570

2017 $   nil

2016 $   843,525

2015 $   722,428

2014 $   808,254

10. Trust assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2018 the Board held no funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers. In 2017,
trust assets held totaled $10,000, which were included in cash and cash equivalents as well as accounts payable and
accruals.

11. National overmarketing levy

During the year, the Board was assessed a national overmarketing levy by Chicken Farmers of Canada of $319,560 for
periods A-148 and A-149. Management estimates that a levy of $188,992 will be assessed for periods A-152 and A-153.
This amount is included in accounts payable at December 31, 2018.

12. Financial instruments 

The Board, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the Board is
not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial instruments
except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at December 31, 2018, six processors (2017 - five) accounted for 59% (2016 - 51%) of trade accounts receivable. The
Board believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables. The Board performs
regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts receivable.

13. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operational Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Operational expenses
Advertising and promotion 171,505 160,486
Amortization 26,123 20,669
Bad debts - 45
Bank charges and interest 7,071 6,570
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals 515,599 430,465
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association (Note 8) 746,130 635,413
CFC Summer Meeting 2017 - 164,597
Chicken Farmers of Canada levy (Note 6) 1,343,581 1,236,627
Computer installation and consulting 106,435 103,891
Consulting fees 128,530 106,592
DEPI funding 13,587 -
Dues, memberships and subscriptions 15,692 13,383
Gain on disposal of capital assets - (166)
Insurance 6,411 6,028
National overmarketing levy (Note 11) 508,552 -
New entrant program - 250
Office supplies and expenses 59,590 52,881
PPAC 3,686 8,511
Postage 7,875 7,255
Poultry biosecurity 6,600 10,090
Professional fees 315,670 58,143
Rent (Note 8) 116,558 115,851
Repairs and maintenance 10,988 12,009
SMAC 1,988 34,981
Salaries and benefits 1,075,162 975,724
Staff travel 123,191 101,081
Strategic plan initiatives 210,546 150,783
Telephone 20,738 23,217

5,541,808 4,435,376
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Annual Picnics,

Dinners, BC Poultry
Conference

Audit, Legal,
Consulting

BCCGA Director
Expenses  (Incl. travel) 

BCCMB O�ice
Building 

BC Poultry
Association Dues 

Poultry in
Motion Coordinator

Per Diems

Administrators

General Manager
P/T (incl. travel)

Donations Operations

BC Chicken Growers’ Association Proposed 
Budget 2019
REVENUE
BCCMB Operating Grant 675,955.00 

Rental Income BCCMB Office 60,000.00 

BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion cost share 13,000.00 

TOTAL REVENUE 748,955.00 

EXPENSES
Annual Picnics, Dinners, BC Poultry 
Conference

100,000.00 

Audit, Legal, Consulting 116,500.00 

BCCGA Director Expenses (incl. travel) 224,850.00 

BCCMB Office Building 18,705.00 

BC Poultry Association Dues 44,000.00 

Poultry in Motion Coordinator Per Diems 81,000.00 

General Manager - P/T (incl. travel) 66,500.00 

Administrators 70,000.00 

Donations 5,000.00 

Operations 22,400.00 

TOTAL EXPENSES 748,955.00 

BCCGA 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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BCCGA FUNDING AND USE REPORT 2018
Budget 2018   

$
Actual 2018    

$
Total Variance  

$

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 626,130           746,130           120,000-           -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Rental Income 60,000             60,000             -                   -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost share 26,000             23,844             2,156               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Grant Income -                   4,000               4,000-               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Miscellaneous Income -                   -                   -                   -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
BCCMB Operating Surplus -                   -                   -                   -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 165,325           170,783           5,458-               18,186         18,786         600-              16,533         17,078         546-              41,331         42,696         1,365-           
Administrators' Honorarium 68,000             69,162             1,162-               3,400           3,458           58-                3,400           3,458           58-                6,800           6,916           116-              
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Diems 80,500             75,813             4,687               4,025           3,791           234              4,025           3,791           234              -               -                   -               
Audit/Legal/Consulting 65,500             189,618           124,118-           1,965           5,689           3,724-           1,310           3,792           2,482-           57,640         166,864       109,224-       
Advertising & Promotions 1,500               609                  891                  150              61                89                150              61                89                150              61                89                
PiM Operating Expenses 65,000             65,383             383-                  -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic 95,000             96,580             1,580-               19,000         19,316         316-              9,500           9,658           158-              9,500           9,658           158-              
Conferences & Seminars 3,000               1,008               1,992               450              151              299              150              50                100              150              50                100              
Dues & Subscriptions 3,500               3,324               176                  -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Insurance 3,200               2,925               275                  -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Office/Bank Expenses 2,900               2,769               131                  290              277              13                -               -                   -               145              138              7                  
Property Taxes 8,500               7,266               1,234               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Meetings/Refreshments 5,500               5,250               250                  1,100           1,050           50                275              263              13                825              788              38                
Telecommunications 1,500               2,033               533-                  225              305              80-                75                102              27-                300              407              107-              
Strata Fees 10,205             10,205             -                   -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
BC Poultry Assocation 60,000             72,123             12,123-             15,000         18,031         3,031-           6,000           7,212           1,212-           6,000           7,212           1,212-           
Travel & Meals 58,000             82,525             24,525-             8,700           12,379         3,679-           5,800           8,253           2,453-           11,600         16,505         4,905-           
Donations 15,000             3,494               11,506             1,500           349              1,151           12,000         2,795           9,205           -               -                   -               

Total Revenue 712,130           833,974           (121,844)          -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Total Expense 712,130           860,870           (148,740)          73,991         83,642         (9,652)          59,218         56,513         2,705           134,441       251,295       (116,854)      
Net -                       (26,896)            26,896             (73,991)        (83,642)        9,652           (59,218)        (56,513)        (2,705)          (134,441)      (251,295)      116,854       

Nurture existing relationships and 
develop new relationships with key 

industry stakeholders

Educate Government on the chicken 
industry

Producers receive prices that provide a 
stable income which enables them to 

cover production costs and form a 
sustainable, subsidy free industry

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Rental Income -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost share -               -               -               -               -               -               26,000         23,844         2,156           
Grant Income -               -               -               -               -               -               -               4,000           4,000-           
Miscellaneous Income -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
BCCMB Operating Surplus -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 13,226         13,663         437-              24,799         25,617         819-              16,533         17,078         546-              
Administrators' Honorarium 3,400           3,458           58-                3,400           3,458           58-                10,200         10,374         174-              
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Diems -               -                   -               -               -                   -               72,450         68,232         4,218           
Audit/Legal/Consulting -               -                   -               1,965           5,689           3,724-           655              1,896           1,241-           
Advertising & Promotions 150              61                89                -               -                   -               600              244              356              
PiM Operating Expenses -               -                   -               -               -                   -               65,000         65,383         383-              
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic 9,500           9,658           158-              -               -                   -               9,500           9,658           158-              
Conferences & Seminars 300              101              199              150              50                100              -               -                   -               
Dues & Subscriptions -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Insurance -               -                   -               -               -                   -               1,280           1,170           110              
Office/Bank Expenses -               -                   -               -               -                   -               290              277              13                
Property Taxes -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Meetings/Refreshments 275              263              13                275              263              13                -               -                   -               
Telecommunications 75                102              27-                75                102              27-                150              203              53-                
Strata Fees -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
BC Poultry Assocation 12,000         14,425         2,425-           6,000           7,212           1,212-           6,000           7,212           1,212-           
Travel & Meals 5,800           8,253           2,453-           5,800           8,253           2,453-           -               -                   -               
Donations -               -                   -               -               -                   -               1,500           349              1,151           

Total Revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   26,000         27,844         (1,844)          
Total Expense 44,726         49,982         (5,256)          42,464         50,643         (8,180)          184,158       182,077       2,081           
Net (44,726)        (49,982)        5,256           (42,464)        (50,643)        8,180           (158,158)      (154,233)      (3,925)          

Collaborate with appropriate industry 
stakeholders to develop tools needed 
by producers to address variability in 

production levels

Build consumer trust through public 
education

Participate with industry stakeholders 
in developing disease strategies

Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue -               -               -               -               -               -               626,130       746,130       120,000-       
Rental Income -               -               -               -               -               -               60,000         60,000         -               
BCBHEPA Poultry in Motion Cost share -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Grant Income -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
Miscellaneous Income -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               
BCCMB Operating Surplus -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Expenses:

Directors Per Diem 14,879         15,370         491-              14,879         15,370         491-              4,960           5,123           164-              
Administrators' Honorarium 3,400           3,458           58-                13,600         13,832         232-              20,400         20,749         349-              
Poultry in Motion Coordinators/Per Diems -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
Audit/Legal/Consulting 1,310           3,792           2,482-           655              1,896           1,241-           -               -                   -               
Advertising & Promotions -               -                   -               300              122              178              -               -                   -               
PiM Operating Expenses -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               
BC Poultry Conference/Dinners/Picnic 14,250         14,487         237-              23,750         24,145         395-              -               -                   -               
Conferences & Seminars 1,500           504              996              300              101              199              -               -                   -               
Dues & Subscriptions 350              332              18                3,150           2,992           158              -               -                   -               
Insurance -               -                   -               -               -                   -               1,920           1,755           165              
Office/Bank Expenses -               -                   -               290              277              13                1,885           1,800           85                
Property Taxes -               -                   -               -               -                   -               8,500           7,266           1,234           
Meetings/Refreshments -               -                   -               1,100           1,050           50                1,650           1,575           75                
Telecommunications -               -                   -               375              508              133-              225              305              80-                
Strata Fees -               -                   -               -               -                   -               10,205         10,205         -               
BC Poultry Assocation 3,000           3,606           606-              6,000           7,212           1,212-           -               -                   -               
Travel & Meals 2,900           4,126           1,226-           11,600         16,505         4,905-           5,800           8,253           2,453-           
Donations -               -                   -               -               -                   -               -               -                   -               

Total Revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   686,130       806,130       (120,000)      
Total Expense 41,589         45,677         (4,087)          75,999         84,011         (8,011)          55,545         57,030         (1,486)          
Net (41,589)        (45,677)        4,087           (75,999)        (84,011)        8,011           630,585       749,100       (118,514)      

Undertake appropriate professional 
development to enhance director 

effectiveness and ensure continued 
appropriate board composition

Identify and implement opportunities to 
increase involvement of growers in the 

industry
Funding/Operations

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 57

BCCGA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



POULTRY IN MOTION 
EDUCATIONAL MINI-
BARN PROGRAM 2018 
UPDATE
Lower Mainland/Fraser Valley

This past year was another very successful year for the 
Poultry in Motional Educational Mini-Barn program in 
the Lower Mainland and Fraser Valley region.

Sheryl Martens took over for Kelsey Schuurman as 
Poultry in Motion Coordinator as of July 2018.    Kalie 
Fooks continues to present Poultry in Motion.

Fairs and School Presentations 
2018 Highlights

zz 12 Fairs/Festivals were attended in the Lower 
Mainland  

z� Abbotsford AgriFair 

z�  Abbotsford Berry Fest 2018

z�  Agassiz Fair

z� Aldergrove Fair

z�  Chilliwack Fair

z� Cloverdale Rodeo & Fair  

z�  Eagle Acres Pumpkin Patch

z�  Maple Ridge-Pitt Meadows Country Fest

z�  Olde Harvest Fair (Surrey)

z�  Pacific National Exhibition (PNE)

z�  Pitt Meadow Agricultural Day

z�  Rosedale Harvest Festival

zz Schools – 68 schools attended for the year with over 
19,780 students attending presentations

z� Spring 2018 - 35 schools were attended from 
February to June 2018 - reaching out to 
approximately 10,780 students

z� Fall 2018 – 33 schools were attended by Kalie 

Fooks from September to November - reaching 
out to approximately 9,000 students

zz All of the fairs and schools were extremely well 
attended.  Lots of information and brochures, etc. 
were handed out at each presentation.

We currently see a continued steady stream of booking 
interest from both the elementary and secondary levels 
for presentations for the spring of 2019 (March, April and 
May are almost all booked).  

Kalie has a strong passion for educating the Elementary 
students and even more so the Secondary schools.  
She brings back trust into our industry of how we care 
for chickens on our farms.  The media has definitely 
brought a negative tone to our industry and Kalie is 
happy to inform students and the public that chicken 
is safe to eat and feed your family from a Canadian 
Chicken Farmer. 

Overall, it was a very successful year in 2018 and we 
continue to work hard to ensure 2019 is very successful 
as well.

(Submitted by Sheryl Martens)

Vancouver Island

This past spring, the Poultry in Motion Educational Mini-
Barn presentations were once again enthusiastically 
received during the four weeks of school visits here on 
Vancouver Island. Each school day was quickly booked 
with schools from Cowichan, Nanaimo-Ladysmith, 
Port Alberni and Courtenay School Districts. As well, I 
am pleased to report that a list is in place for 2019. This 
event is often referred to as ‘the field trip that comes to 
the school’. 

All visits were greeted and welcomed by students and 
staff so attentively curious about our chicken industry. 
That curiosity was respectfully evidenced by the variety 
of questions presented by all grade levels at each 
presentation. A secondary school science teacher 
stated that he welcomes opportunities for his students 
to participate in a ‘science in action’ presentation. The 
remaining student body, and happy revisiting students 
together with remaining staff took the opportunity to 
visit during the break times providing even another 
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opportunity to ‘talk chicken’! 

Set up at the schools was completed well before student 
drop off and remained in place until after student 
pick up time allowing for connections with parents, 
caregivers and the neighbours. 

Participating in the Island Ag Show in Duncan, was a 
big hit. Along with a packed crowd of visitors each day, 
we were happy to welcome the Minister of Agriculture, 
Lana Popham, and the Lt. Governor, Judith Guichon, as 
well as many busloads of inquisitive school children. 
The mini-barn has been booked for the 2019 Ag Show 
being held in Saanich this coming February. 

Two fairs were again attended on the Island . . . 
Vancouver Island Exhibition and Cowichan Exhibition. 
Both fairs provide the mini-barn with a center stage 
opportunity to boost the educational component of 
their fairs which allows for many conversations with our 
consumers who are searching for accurate information 
about BC’s and Canada’s chicken production. 

As one of BC’s chicken farmers, I sincerely welcome and 
feel privileged for the opportunity to provide a plethora 
of accurate, detailed, information to consumers 
regarding our industry for everything ranging from 
animal care to supply management and all topics in 
between. 

(Submitted by Bev Whitta)

Poultry in Motion Committee

The Poultry in Motion Committee, chaired by Dave 
Martens (BCCGA director), oversees the operation of 
the Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn program 
in the Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley and on Vancouver 
Island.  The BC Hatching Egg Producers’ Association is 
represented by Angela Groothof and Sandra Lepp, Bev 
Whitta represents the interests of the Poultry in Motion 

Educational Mini Barn program on Vancouver Island.  
Margret Duin (BCCGA)  is in charge of administration, 
purchasing and financial aspects.  The Committee 
meets 2 to 3 times per year to assess and reevaluate the 
program.

The existing Poultry in Motion trailer will continue to 
be jointly owned and operated by the BC Chicken 
Growers’ Association and BC Broiler Hatching Egg 
Producers’ Association based on an 80/20 ownership 
and operation cost share.

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini 
Barn Maintenance and Repair

The Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn, that 
was custom built 10 years ago, underwent extensive 
maintenance and repair in 2017 and 2018.  This 
included replacement of the air conditioning system, 
installation of additional venting, electrical system 
update, installation of safety steps and additional 
security locks, a second set of breeder slats for quicker 
clean-ups and general maintenance and repair.  The 
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn now features 
a professional sound system. This greatly improves the 
presentations at schools, especially to larger groups of 
students.   The sound system includes weather proof 
speakers mounted on the trailer and a microphone. 

Planned repairs for the December 2018/January 2019 
winter downtime include an upgrade to an internal 
water holding tank and pump. This will increase the 
length of time into the late fall and early spring when 
we can offer the program to schools. It will save on wear 
and tear to the water pump system while traveling to 
schools in the fall. 

The maintenance will continue in 2019 with a planned 
repainting of the trailer.  

(Submitted by Dave Martens and Margret Duin)
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of BC Chicken Growers’ Association

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers’ Association, which comprise the statements

of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Association

as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year in accordance with Canadian Auditing

Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities of the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We

are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial

statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Management’s Responsibility and those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian

accounting standards for not for profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern,

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either

intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing

standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered

material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these financial statements.  As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for opinion.  

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT cont’d

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt

on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required

to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are

inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our

auditors’ report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether

the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

                                                                                       

MICHAEL P. FORCIER, CPA, INC.,

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Abbotsford, BC

February 13, 2019

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2018

2018 2017

ASSETS

CURRENT

Cash $110,062 $171,425

Accounts receivable (NOTE 5) 28,364 27,901

Inventory (NOTE 3) 19,699 16,960

Prepaid expenses   65,932   34,715

224,057 251,001

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (NOTE 1 & 4) 253,517 262,382

$477,574 $513,383

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (NOTE 6) $  85,644 $  88,159

Due to government agencies         9,995     7,529

 95,639   95,688

FUND BALANCES

Net assets, ending 381,935 417,695

$477,574 $513,383

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

                                                                             Director

                                                                            Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

2018 2017 

REVENUES

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board         $746,130 $683,154 

Rental income (NOTE 7) 60,000 60,000 

Grant income     4,000     8,750 

810,130 751,904 

EXPENSES           

Accounting and legal 131,774 38,759 

Administrators’ honorariums 69,162 69,245 

Advertising and promotion 609 592 

Amortization 8,865 9,316 

Annual picnic and dinners 15,533 15,473 

BC Poultry Association         72,123 59,608 

BC Poultry Conference 81,047 57,120 

Conferences and seminars 1,008 1,143 

Consulting fees 57,844 42,907 

Directors’ remuneration and benefits (NOTE 7) 170,783 147,894 

Donations 3,494 10,108 

Insurance 1,139 1,140 

Interest and bank charges 109 61 

Memberships, dues and subscriptions 3,324 185 

Office supplies and postage 7,909 9,478 

Poultry in motion (NOTE 7 and NOTE 9) 119,138 111,198 

Property taxes 7,266 7,703 

Strata fees 10,205 10,205 

Telecommunications 2,033 1,407 

Travel and meals   82,525   65,960 

845,890 659,502 

(DEFICIENCY) EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES     (35,760)   92,402 

NET ASSETS, beginning of year 417,695 373,035 

Return of surplus to BC Chicken Marketing Board            - (47,742)

NET ASSETS, end of year $381,935 $417,695 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

2018 2017 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses           . $(35,760) $  92,402 

Item not affecting cash:

- amortization     8,865     9,316 

(26,895) 101,718 

Changes in non-cash working capital:

- accounts receivable (463) (15,028)

- inventory (2,739) (13,116)

- prepaid expenses (31,217) (15,186)

- accounts payable (2,515) 30,107 

- due to government agencies        2,466     7,521 

(61,363)  96,016 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets           -   (3,583)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Surplus of surplus to BC Chicken Marketing Board             - (47,742)

CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (61,363) 44,691 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 171,425 126,734 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year $110,062 $171,425 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

BC Chicken Growers’ Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia and commenced operations in 1957

to unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry and to act as a liaison between

chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

NOTE 1   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit

organizations (ASNFPO).

Inventory

Inventory includes various brochures, books, DVDs and gifts to be distributed to the public at no charge.  Inventory is

measured at the lower of cost and replacement value.  Cost is determined using the first-in-first-out method.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.  The Association provides for amortization using the declining

balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated useful lives.  When a

tangible capital asset no longer has any long term service potential for the organization, the excess of its net carrying

amount over any residual value is recognized as an expense in the statement of operations.  Amortization rates used for

identified classes are, as follows:

                                 

Buildings 4%

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns 10%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Computer equipment 10%

Educational video 10%

*Land and building title are held in 584688 BC Ltd., a bare trustee corporation.

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a not-for-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act of British Columbia,

and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

Revenue recognition

The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.  Restricted contributions are recognized

as revenue in the year which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue

when they are received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is

reasonably assured.

�  BC Chicken Marketing Board contributions are recognized when allocations are approved and collection is

reasonably assured.

� Rental income is recognized as revenue on the 1st day of the month rent is charged and when collection is

reasonably assured.

� Grant income is received from the Metro Vancouver Agricultural Awareness Program and is restricted for use in

Poultry in Motion mini barn costs.

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d

Use of estimates       

When preparing financial statements according to Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, the

Association  makes estimates and assumptions relating to: 

� Reported amounts of revenue and expenses;

� Reported amounts of assets and liabilities; and

� Disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

Management’s assumptions are based on a number of factors, including historical experience, current events and actions

that the organization may undertake in the future, and other experience that are reasonable under the circumstances. 

Actual results could differ from those estimates under different conditions and assumptions.  Estimates were used when

accounting for certain items, such as accounts payable.  

Allocation of expenses

The Association engages in Poultry in Motion public awareness program and representation of BC chicken growers. 

The Association specifically identifies expenses allocated to each program.  Directors remuneration are allocated

between the programs by specific identification based on per diem payments.  Directors remuneration for general

operations are shown in the statement of operations, remuneration for Poultry in Motion are disclosed in the schedule

of costs.

NOTE 2   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued.  In subsequent periods, financial assets with

actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in income.  All other

financial instruments are reported at amortized cost and tested for impairment at each reporting date.  Transaction costs

on the acquisition sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when incurred.

The Association uses risk management to monitor and manage its risk arising from financial instruments.  These risks

include credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

The Association does not use any derivative financial instruments to mitigate these risks.

Credit Risk

Credit risks arise from two sources: cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from related parties.  Cash and cash

equivalents are deposited with reputable, major financial institutions to limit the credit risk exposure.  The credit risk

from counter parties not paying amounts due is not considered to be significant.

Interest Rate Risk

The Association is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents.  Changes in interest rates

can affect the cash flows related to interest income and expense.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk exposure is dependent on the receipt of funds from BC Chicken Marketing Board, municipal government

grants and other source to enable the Association to pay its liabilities as they become due.

Market Risk

As the Association does not invest in publicly traded securities, it is not exposed to fluctuations in the market and, as

such, is not exposed to any market risk at this time. 

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.

M A R K E T I N G  B O A R D

Source Sans Pro

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 67

BCCGA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 3   INVENTORY 2018 2017 

Opening inventory                                                 $  16,960 $    3,844 

Additions 9,935 15,500 

Amounts expenses   (7,196)   (2,384)

$  19,699 $  16,960 

NOTE 4   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2018 2017

 Accumulated Net Book Net Book

Cost Amortization       Value       Value

Land $100,277 $           - $100,277 $100,277

Buildings 243,417 125,538 117,879 122,790

Office furniture & equipment 6,386 6,210 176 220

Educational videos 4,848 1,985 2,863 3,181

Trailers                    61,716 30,454 31,262 34,736

Computer equipment     5,426     4,366     1,060          1,178

$422,070 $168,553 $253,517 $262,382

NOTE 5   ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Amounts receivable arise from a cost sharing arrangement for the operation of the Poultry in Motion mini barn 1.  The

British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers’ Association (BCBHEPA) has a 20% interest in the Poultry in Motion

mini barn 1.  Costs for Poultry in Motion mini barn 1 are totalled up each fiscal year, 20% of the costs are allocated to

the BCBHEPA.  The $28,364 accounts receivable is comprised entirely of fiscal 2018 cost sharing receivable for the

Poultry in Motion mini barn 1.

NOTE 6   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2018 2017

Trade payables and accrued payables $  46,475 $  17,088

Due to directors* 39,169 20,942

Due to BC Chicken Marketing Board            -   50,129

$  85,644 $  88,159

*Amounts due to directors include per diems payable and reimbursements payable for general operating expenses. 

NOTE 7   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions consist of the following:

Rent amounts were paid to a director of the Association for the storage of the Poultry in motion mini barn trailer on his

personal property.  The total amount of rent paid for the year was $16,800 and is included in the Poultry in motion

operating expenses.

Per diem amounts were paid to the directors of the Association in the amount of $177,106.  These per diem amounts

were compensation for the preparation for and attendance of director meetings, advocacy meetings and Poultry in motion

operations.  These amounts are included in directors’ remuneration and Poultry in motion expenses.

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS’ ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 7   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS cont’d

Operating revenue and rental revenue was received from BC Chicken Marketing Board, an entity related by having

significant influence over the Association.  Operating revenue totalled $746,130 and rental revenue totalled $60,000.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount

of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties, and which in management’s opinion is comparable to

amounts that would have been paid to non-related parties.

NOTE 8   ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.

NOTE 9   POULTRY IN MOTION SCHEDULE OF COSTS

2018 2017 

Attendants’ remuneration - directors $  13,075 $  10,175 

Attendants’ remuneration - non-directors 8,700 20,575 

Co-ordinators’ honorariums 54,038 50,018 

Operating costs 65,383 55,994 

Insurance     1,786     1,911 

142,982 138,673 

Cost sharing with BCBHEPA (23,844) (27,475)

$119,138 $111,198 

NOTE 10  COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The previous year’s figures were audited by another accountant.  Certain of these figures have been restated to conform

to the presentation adopted in 2018. 

Michael P. Forcier, CPA, Inc.
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A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, 
decision or determination of the following commodity 
marketing boards and commissions may file an appeal 
to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB):

zz British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission 

zz British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Egg Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission 

zz British Columbia Milk Marketing Board 

zz British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board

zz British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission

WHAT IS THE BRITISH 
COLUMBIA FARM 
INDUSTRY REVIEW 
BOARD?
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative 
functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing boards and 
commissions and in hearing regulated marketing 
appeals; farm practices complaints, and animal seizure 
appeals.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing Board 
(“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in 1934 under the NPMA 
to supervise the commodity boards. Over the years, the 
role has been expanded and its authority redefined to 
address changes in the regulated marketing sector.

BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members appointed by 
Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). Board members 
backgrounds vary, with experience in production, 
marketing, law and education related to agricultural 
issues.

HOW LONG DO I HAVE 
TO APPEAL?
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not 
more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision or 
determination of the commodity board or commission 
is made.

If an appeal is filed more than 30 days after the marketing 
board’s decision, the person filing the notice of appeal 
must explain what special circumstances exist that 
warrant BCFIRB accepting a late appeal (See ATA s.24: 
http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/
document/ID/freeside/00_04045_01).
 

DO I NEED LEGAL 
COUNSEL?
Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision 
to make, and you will be responsible for paying your 
own lawyer.

WHERE DO I SEND THE 
APPEAL?
Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows:

Mail:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board PO Box 
9129 Stn Prov Govt
Victoria BC V8W 9B5

Courier:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 780 
Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email: firb@gov.bc.ca 
Fax: 250-356-5131
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WHAT SHOULD BE 
INCLUDED IN THE 
NOTICE OF APPEAL?
The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-
refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money orders 
should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”.

The notice of appeal must include the following:

zz be in writing and signed

zz identify the decision being appealed

zz state why the decision should be changed

zz state the outcome requested from BCFIRB

zz include your name, address, telephone number, 
email (or the contact information of the person 
handling the appeal for you)

zz  include an address for delivery of any notices 
related to the appeal BCCMB’s notice of appeal 
form  can be used to file an appeal.  

WHAT HAPPENS WHEN 
THE BRITISH COLUMBIA 
FARM INDUSTRY REVIEW 
BOARD RECEIVES THE 
APPEAL?
BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt 
of your appeal. This letter will also contain information 
which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At 
the same time, BCFIRB will notify the commodity board 
or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed 
and instruct them of their responsibilities as outlined in 
the Rules of Practice and Procedures.
 
BCFIRB will also ensure that the commodity board 
or commission has received a copy of your notice of 
appeal.

BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring them 
to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The purpose of 
the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify the issue 

on appeal and determine the position of each party 
as well as the remedies sought by the appellant. The 
pre-hearing conference call will also be used to confirm 
hearing dates and directions for the appeal hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) to facilitate settlements of 
the matter under appeal and will assist the parties 
in establishing an ADR process. Parties can apply to 
BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions about possible 
ADR alternatives will also be an agenda item for the pre-
hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not 
more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your notice 
of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent 
upon the circumstances of all the parties to the appeal.

What is the most important thing for me to remember?

BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal 
within 30 days of an order, decision or determination of 
the commodity board or commission. Failure to meet 
this deadline may result in BCFIRB not hearing your 
appeal.

HOW CAN I GET MORE 
INFORMATION?
For further information please refer to the Rules of 
Practice and Procedures for Appeals. Section 8 of 
the Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act (NPMA), 
and the Administrative Tribunals Act (ATA).

More information on the appeal process is 
available on BCFIRB’s website at: www.gov.bc.ca/
BCFarmIndustryReviewBoard.

The standing orders of the commodity board or 
commission involved may also contain information.

Should you have any further questions please feel free 
to contact BCFIRB directly at: 

Phone: 250 356-8945
Fax: 250 356-5131
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca
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